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May 21, 2015
Dear Fellow Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to report to you on our progress in 2014 and 2015 to
date and provide our outlook for the balance of 2015.

COMPANY HIGHLIGHTS

Successful bidder of oil mining Lease No 25 (OML 25)

In May 2014, Crestar Integrated Natural Resources Limited ("Crestar") a non-controlled subsidiary of
James Bay was selected as the winning bidder for the Shell JV’s 45% participating interest in Oil Mining
Lease No. 25 (“OML 25”). As you are aware from our press releases over the past year, James Bay is
now involved in a number of disputes in respect of this acquisition all being handled through Crestar.
The disputes began when the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (“NNPC”) wrongfully exercised
an expired pre-emption right in respect of OML 25. In January, 2015, after NNPC wrongfully attempted
to block the sale of the interest in OML 25 and to acquire the interest for itself, Crestar commenced
injunction proceedings in the Nigerian Federal High Court to bar The Shell Petroleum Development
Company of Nigeria Limited, Total E&P Nigeria Limited, and Nigerian AGIP Qil Company Limited
(collectively the “Shell JV”) from effecting a transfer of OML 25 to NNPC or anyone else, which
injunctions were granted on a preliminary basis. The Shell JV has sought to discharge the injunctions,
but the Nigerian Federal High Court has to date dismissed these applications. The initial purchase price
for the interest in OML 25 remains in escrow as of the date of this letter, pending resolution of some or
all of these issues.

The wrongful exercise of an expired pre-emption right by the NNPC represents the NNPC's first-ever
exercise of pre-emption rights in the history of the Shell JV's divestment from Nigeria. In addition to
unprecedented attempt to exercise expired pre-emption rights, Crestar also believes it will be able to
show that the NNPC was attempting to fund its own acquisition with monies obtained from private third
parties in exchange for lucrative interests in OML 25, which arrangement would almost certainly violate
several Nigerian laws regulating government borrowing.

James Bay and Crestar continue to defend the acquisition of the interest in OML 25 on all fronts (both
legal and political) in order to secure value to the shareholders for the interest in OML 25, and to reflect
the efforts of management in securing a winning bid for a material oil and gas asset.

Financing

During the fiscal 2014, James Bay had raised in excess of $6.7 million gross proceeds through four
rounds of equity financing. In April 2015, the Company announced a non-brokered private placement
(the “Offering) of unsecured convertible debenture in the aggregate principal amount of up to $3
million. The first tranche of the Offering in the amount of $1.6M closed on April 30, 2015 and the
remaining $1.4 million is expected closed over a series of tranches with the next tranche scheduled to
close on or before May 31, 2015. Each participant in the Offering will also be acquiring, pursuant to
separate agreement, an entitlement in up to 30% of any award resulting from litigation or settlement of
the claims discussed earlier in my letter. All of this has been disclosed in greater detail in our press
releases dated April 16 and April 30, 2015.
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Change in Board of Directors and Officer

Mr. Knut Sovold did not stand for re-election at the annual meeting held in August 2014, and accordingly
is no longer a director of the Company. Mr Mike Sylvestre resigned from the board of directors in 2014
for personal reasons. As a result of these departures, Messrs. Adeniyi Olaniyan and Jean Gautier were
appointed to the board of directors of the Company and are now being submitted for election at the
annual meeting. Mr Olaniyan has also been appointed as President and CEO of James Bay’s subsidiary
companies in Nigeria. Mr. Olaniyan previously held the role of Country Manager and Chief Operating
Officer for the Company's subsidiary James Bay Energy Nigeria Limited.

Change of Stock Exchange

The Company’s shares were voluntarily delisted from the TSX Venture Exchange on October 29, 2014.
Effective October 30, 2014, the Company’s shares were listed on the Canadian Stock Exchange (“CSE”),
under the symbol “JBR”. The Company is listed as an oil and gas issuer on the CSE.

The Company's Ogedeh Project is currently being reviewed by the Department of Petroleum Resources
(DPR) (as is the case with several other marginal fields, awarded in 2004) to determine whether the
Company and the Company's partner, Bicta Management Systems Limited (Bicta), have done sufficient
work to secure an extension to the life of its license. A decision is not expected on this front until later
in 2015. Also, given the current state of the oil market and given the fact that the Ogedeh Project does
not contain any proven reserves, the project has been put on hold and no further work will be
performed until the project is determined financeable.

Given all of our efforts to build a presence and future in Nigeria, we are confident that James Bay will be
successful in acquiring an interest in OML 25, providing a base for future growth.

On Behalf of the Board, we thank you for our continuing support.

Signed,

“Stephen Shefsky”

President and CEO
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w James Bay
Resources Limited

MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DECEMBER 31, 2014 AND DECEMBER 31, 2013



INTRODUCTION

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A™ #&ames Bay Resources Limited (the “Company” or
“James Bay”) should be read in conjunction with @@mpany’s consolidated audited financial statesémt the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. Thosefahatatements are prepared in accordance wigerational
Financial Reporting Standings (“IFRS”) and all amtsushown in this MD&A and in the financial statenteare
expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwissdndihis MD&A was reviewed and approved by the Canys
Audit Committee and Board of Directors on April ZD15.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statenteand information relating to the Company thattzsed on
the beliefs of its management as well as assungpticade by and information currently available ® @Gompany.
When used in this document, the words “anticipdteg)ieve”, “estimate”, “expect” and similar expsisns, as they
relate to the Company or its management, are iegkrid identify forward-looking statements. Suchward-
looking statements relate to, among other thinggulatory compliance, the sufficiency of currentrking capital,
the estimated cost and availability of funding flee continued exploration of the Company’s exploraproperty.
Such statements reflect the current views of then@any with respect to future events and are suldgecertain
risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Many faatordd cause the actual results, performance deaement of
the Company to be materially different from anyufetresults, performance or achievements that raagxpressed
or implied by such forward-looking statements. Reradare cautioned not to place undue reliance esetforward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the thatestatements were made.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

James Bay is a junior resource company originalbu$ed on the acquisition and exploration of bagkpmecious
metal mineral properties, with activities centeme€anada. The Company has exclusive rights inrtiming claims
known as the James Bay Lowlands property (the “€ntg}), located approximately 60 km southeast & Hirst
Nations community of Webequie, and approximatel§ Bt northwest of Timmins, Ontario, Canada. Theperty
consists of 75 unpatented claims covering a tdtapproximately 974 claim units or approximately,@48 ha of
mineral exploration rights.

In 2011 the Company entered into a preliminary egpent to conduct due diligence to identify potdrdiband gas
acquisition targets in Nigeria.

In 2012, the Company signed an agreement to acquiig% interest in the Ogedeh Marginal Field Awandthe
Farmed-Out Area within the Oil Mining Licence 9@ML 90 Project” or the “Ogedeh Project”). As a ri¢saf the
Company’s change in focus to pursuing oil and gaets in Nigeria. On October 11, 2012, the Comyded a
National Instrument 51-101 report concerning theed@p Project to pursue conditional approval othiange of
business under the policies of the TSX Venture Brge (“TSX-V").

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

In February 2012, the Company incorporated a wholsned Nigerian subsidiary, James Bay Energy Négeri
Limited (“*JBENL”"). Pursuant to an agreement sigmweith D&H Solution AS, 100% share ownership interet
D&H Energy Nigeria Limited (“DHENL") and Ondobit hiited (“OL") were transferred to JBENL on March 9,
2012.

In April 2012, 2255431 Ontario Inc. (a wholly ownedbsidiary of the Company) assigned its 100% osimpr
interest of James Bay Coal LLC (“JBC LLC") to Janteay. JBC LLC is a US entity and a wholly owned
subsidiary of James Bay. JBC LLC was later condefitem a Delaware corporation to a Delaware limiiadility
company called James Bay Energy Nigeria LLC (“JBHENXC"). Subsequently, 2255431 Ontario Inc. was woupd
in June 2013.
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In September 2013, Crestar Integrated Natural Ressw.imited (“CINRL” or “Crestar”) was incorporate The
Company has a 45% ownership interest in Crestautfir its wholly owned subsidiary company JBENL. The
remaining 55% ownership interest in Crestar is alixy Crestar Hydrocarbon Exploration and Production
Company Limited {CHEPCL or Crestar Hydrocarbby an indigenous Nigerian partner.

In November 2013, the Company entered into a fiirand technical services Agreement with CINRL vetgy
the Company is appointed the financial and techmjeatner with respect to acquiring oil and gasjgets in
Nigeria.

Effective June 17, 2014, the financial and techrseavices agreement was amended to reflect a ehahgarty
from CINRL to CHEPCL. All terms in the November )13 agreement between JBENL and CINRL remain in
effect with CHEPCL. JBENL's 45% ownership intergsCINRL remains unchanged.

The consolidated financial statements comprisdittamcial statements of the Company and its subses.

James Bay Energy Nigeria LLC, USA 100%
James Bay Energy Nigeria Limited, Nigeria 100%
D&H Energy Nigeria Limited, Nigeria 100%
Ondobit Limited, Nigeria 100%
Crestar Integrated Natural Resources Limited, Néger 45%*

* During the year ended December 31, 2014, comfdlrestar Integrated Natural Resources Limited wasand
as such the Company ceased consolidation of tleeseiats from July 3, 2014.

COMPANY HILIGHTS

Successful bidder of Oil Mining Lease No 25 (“OML 3")

In May 2014, Crestar was selected as the winnidgdai for the Shell JV's 45% participating interasOML-25.

The NNPC attempted to block the sale and acquieirtterest for itself under a 30 day contractughtriof first

refusal that had been expired months earlier. @restmmenced injunction proceedings in January 20BilBarch

2015, the Federal High Court of Nigeria has rutedaivour of Crestar to bar Shell JV’s from affegtia transfer to
NNPC or any other party.

Financing

During the fiscal 2014, James Bay had raised irgxof $6.7 million gross proceeds through foundsuof equity
financing. In April 2015, the Company announcedoa-brokered private placement (the “Offering”) afsecured
convertible debenture in the aggregate principadamof up to $3 million. The Offering is expecteldsed over a
series of tranches with the final tranche schedtdezdlose on or before May 31, 2015.

Change in Board of Directors and Officer

Mr. Knut Sovold did not stand for re-election aé tAhnnual meeting held in August 2014, and accolgiisgno
longer a director of the Company. Mr. Mike Sylvestas resigned from the board of directors dueexsgnal
reasons.

Mr. Adeniyi Olaniyan and Mr. Jean Gauthier haverbekected as directors of the Company at the ammeating.
Mr. Adeniyi Olaniyan has also been appointed asiBeat and CEO of the James Bay’s subsidiary coiapahr.
Olaniyan previously assumes the role of Country &pem and Chief Operating Officer for JBENL.

Change of Stock Exchange

The Company’s shares were voluntarily delisted ftbem@ TSX-V on October 29, 2014. Due to the dédgsDf its
common shares from the TSX-V, the Company did nobaete its previously announced Change of Busif@ss
that term is defined in TSX-V policies) since tipmbcess is a specific procedure under TSX-V pdiead rules.
Effective October 30, 2014he Company’s shares were listed on the Canadiack3xchange (“CSE”), listing
under the symbol “JBR”. The Company is listed m®hand gas issuer on the CSE.
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JAMES BAY DIRECT INTEREST IN OGEDEH PROJECT OIL AND GAS FIELD

Pursuant to a deed of assignment between DHENLBict&d Energy & Management System Limited (“Bicta”)
dated March 9, 201ghe "DOA"), the Company has acquired a 47% inteireshe Ogedeh Project subject to all
regulatory approval. On May 28, 2012, the Compalsy &ntered into a Joint Operating Agreement (J@#h
Bicta. The JOA and DOA have been filed with the &ment of Petroleum Resources (DPR). On May 11320
the Federal Ministry of Petroleum Resources (“HMPRjranted approval for the assignment of the 47%
participating interest in the Ogedeh Project.

The Company retained Sproule International Limit&proule™) to evaluate the oil and gas leasesudwd under
the DOA and the JOA for the Ogedeh Project.

Evaluating Report, Author, Date

Sproule, an independent qualified resource evaluptepared a report in respect of the evaluatith® Ogedeh
Project entitled "Evaluation of the Contingent @iésources of James Bay Resources Limited in OgEdsd,
Nigeria" dated as of December 31, 2014 (the "Sper&dport").

The information set forth below is derived from tBg@roule Report which has been prepared by Sprioule
accordance with the standards contained in theafl Gas Evaluation Handbook (COGEH) and the defirst
contained in National Instrument 51-101 — Standafd3isclosure for Oil and Gas Activities ("NI 511").

Summary

Table S-1 summarizes the assessment of the contindeesources of James Bay Resources LimitedérOgedeh
Field of Nigeria, as of December 31, 2014. The Camypholds a 47 percent working interest in the @gefield in
a portion of Block OML 90 in the western part oktiNiger River Delta. A map showing the locationtbé
Company’s property is included as Figure S-1.

The resource definitions and ownership classificatised in this assessment are the standards dl&yn€EOGEH
resource definitions and consistent with NI 51-181d used by Sproule. The oil resources are prabante
thousands of barrels, at stock tank conditions4083 psi and 60 degrees Fahrenheit.

The recoverable oil volumes presented in this reparve been classified as Contingent Resourcestirgemt
Resources are those quantities of petroleum estnas of a given date, to be potentially recoverom known
accumulations using established technology or teldlgy under development, but which are not curyentl
considered to be commercially recoverable due ® @nmore contingencies. Contingencies may incladeors
such as economic, legal, environmental, politicel eegulatory matters, or a lack of markets.

The contingency that prevents the classificatiorcaritingent resources as reserves is commercidfyoule has
determined the project maturity sub-class to beeldgment on hold as the Company has stated thdagement is
subject to project financing. There is no certaitfigt it will be commercially viable to produce apgrtion of the
reported resources.

For contingent resources, the risk factor relatedtite chance of commerciality is equal to the chaont
development. The volumes presented in this ree Imot been risked for chance of development.

Well Ogedeh-1 was drilled in 1993, targeting thebAda Formation. Well logs indicated the existenfe o
hydrocarbons; however the well has not been testad,it was suspended due to mechanical problemderJ
COGEH, “confirmation of commercial productivity ah accumulation by production or a formation teseiuired
for classification of reserves as proved. In theesige of production or formation testing, probaind/or possible
reserves may be assigned to an accumulation ohatsis of well logs and/or core analysis that ingisahat the
zone is hydrocarbon bearing and is analogous teragservoirs in the immediate area that have dstrated
commercial productivity by actual production orrfation testing”.
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Although the B1 sand shows a gas-bearing zone oilemo gas volumes were assigned due to the lanite
information available and the lack of gas markets.

At the request of the Company, an economic evalnatias not performed.

Table S-1
Summary of Unrisked Contingent Oil Resources
of the Ogedeh Field, Nigeria
(As of December 31, 2014)

Contingent! Light Crude Oil Resources
(Unrisked)
Discovered Oil
Resources Classification Maturity Sub-Class Initially-In-Place Mbbl
Mbbl
Project Gross? Company Gross®
2C Contingent (P50) Development on hold 24,600 6,850 3,352

Notes:

1) Contingent Resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially
recoverable from known accumulations using established technology or technology under development, but
which are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies.
Contingent resources have an associated chance of development to be commercially recoverable due to
one or more contingencies. Contingencies may include factors such as economic, legal, and regulatory
matters, or a lack of markets. The contingency that prevents the classification of contingent resources as
reserves is commerciality. There is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of

the reported resources.
2) "Project Gross" means 100% working interest volumes before deducting royalties and burdens.

3) "Company Gross" means the Company working interest volumes before deducting royalties and burdens.

6) Due to rounding, certain totals may not be consistent from one presentation to the
next.
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Ogedeh Field Location Map
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General

The Ogedeh Field is located in approximately 4Q ffewater in the extreme southwestern corner ofPRIN
(Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation) Block OMD (Oil Mining Lease) in the western Niger Deltash,
approximately 70 kilometers west of the city of \Waligeria. Table 1 presents a well list and prctéhn history.

The field is bounded to the north by the Meji Fjdll the northeast by the Ajapa Field (discovered984), to the
southeast by the Akepo Field (discovered in 1998) o the east by Nigerian Agip Oil Company’s (NADC
Beniboye Field. A location map is provided as Feglir

The Ogedeh Field was discovered by Chevron in 189%e drilling of the Ogedeh-1 well. Hydrocarbomsre
found in both the B and D sands of the Agbada Foomahowever, the well encountered mechanical el and
was not tested. Well Ogedeh-2 was drilled in 1984a separate fault block, about 9 kilometres seath of
Ogedeh-1. The Ogedeh-2 well was dry.

In 2004, 100 percent of a portion of OML-90, appnaxtely 10,660 acres in size and containing thed@ge-ield
was awarded to Bicta Energy & Management Systemstéd during the federal government discretionaiy b
round of 2003 via a farmout from Chevron and thePIN The term of the farmout agreement was sixtythson
The Company has advised Sproule that this ternbéas extended; however, Sproule has not been medopy

of the document to verify the extension. Bicta gissd 47 percent of the working interest to D&H EyyeNigeria
Limited (D&H) through a joint operating agreemengjpared in 2012. D&H is a wholly owned subsidiafylames
Bay Energy Nigeria LLC, which is wholly owned bynd@s Bay Resources Limited. As a result, the Company
currently owns a 47 percent interest in the Ogddeld. The remaining working interests are heldBtigta Energy

& Management Systems Limited at 40 percent andibgttale Exploration and Production Limited at ¥qent.

Geoscience

The Ogedeh Field structure is mapped at shallowldege.g., the thin “A” gas sands over oil) as $marrow,

elongated and asymmetrical northwest-southeastlitrgnanticlines, located downthrown to similarlending

normal growth faults. At intermediate and deepeele (e.g., the oil and gas “B” and “D” sands), #teucture has
evolved into up-dipping closures against the dowowim side of the normal growth faults.

The field is dissected into small, narrow and sparallel fault blocks by a system of northwest-keast trending
normal growth faults which also control the hydntcan accumulations.

The Ogedeh-1 discovery well was drilled as a dioaet hole, almost parallel to the fault planeshivitone of the
many fault blocks in the field. The well encountefz0 feet TVD of oil in five sands, 26 feet TVD gés in two
sands, and 37 feet TVD of unknown hydrocarbonsria sand. The Ogedeh-1 discovery well was prematurel
suspended due to safety considerations at abocd®0®eet MD, while drilling through a sequence @fthpressured
reservoir sands with mudlog hydrocarbon “shows” exgeriencing some mechanical problems.

The Ogedeh-2 well was drilled on a different stnuetand fault block about eight kilometres southedsthe
discovery well and was water wet at all its objeztievels.

Stratigraphically, the field has good alternatiegisences of paralic, clean reservoir sands anchenahales in the
objective Agbada Formation, which is ideal for coemnoial hydrocarbon generation, migration and embraqt in
the Niger Delta basin.

Data Control

A Petrel project with 3D seismic data was providgdismic time picks for B1, B3 and D4; depth gifioisB1, B3
and D4; fault sticks; fault polygons in depth; amdime-depth relationship table were provided. Tedl data
provided included well header and various logshef ©gedeh-1 well in las format. The location coaatis for the
Ogedeh-1 and Ogedeh-2 wells, Ogedeh concessiodinates and reports of all the previous work denthe field
were also provided.
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Seismic Audit

The seismic data audit included the verificationtlod defined structural framework of the field aaddit of
structure maps to determine the extent of the toattn-bearing reservoir sands in the field.

The 3D seismic data provided in Schlumberger'séPstftware was quality controlled. The seismicadatality is
generally good.

The B1, B3 and D4 time horizons provided in Pewefe coarse gridded. These horizons were finelgdgd.
Sproule considered the fault sticks and fault pohgyprovided to be reasonable.

The three time horizons were converted to depthguisie time-depth relationship provided.

The oil tops and bases for the three horizons gererated using the tops information from the Ogedevell. In
the case of the B1 sand, the gas/oil contact suirdéep was generated and the P90 and P1 (spill) moieas were
created. Using these area boundaries, gross rdeknes were calculated.

Petrophysics

Sproule conducted an independent petrophysicaysisabf the B1, B2 and D4 sands using the PRIZM ul®éh

Geographix software. The objective of the analy&s to estimate the effective porosity and watéuration for

the Ogedeh-1 well, having open-hole log data tomade the oil initially-in-place. This well is deated; however,
the deviation survey data are not available. Cotieral open-hole logs are recorded covering thaflgpackage.
The underlying D sand package has only the loggihde-drilling gamma ray and resistivity logs.

The B sands were assessed using all available Tdgs.volume of shale was computed as the minimurnwof
indicators: gamma ray and neutron-density combanafihe apparent porosity was calculated usingtieeage of
the neutron and density porosity values. The affegiorosity was calculated by correcting the appaporosity for
the estimated volume of shale within the formatieor the D sands, porosity logs were not availabhe effective
porosity was estimated from the gamma ray log tvige an approximate mean porosity value. For lsathd
packages, a value of 0.15 ohm-meters at 75 def@a®nheit was used for formation water resistivitye water
saturation was calculated using the modified Sirnardequation, with values of a, m and n set to Hnd 2,
respectively. The net pay was computed using theoifwalues of effective porosity greater than pércent,
volume of shale less than 50 percent, and wataratain of less than 50 percent. The well log iptetation results
are illustrated in Figures 2, 3 and 4 for the B2,ad D4 sands, respectively.

Technically Recoverable Volumes

The technically recoverable oil resources in thed Field, Block OML 90, were estimated probatidialy. The
gross rock volumes were calculated within Petradsd®voir rock and fluid property data were obtairfiexn
available well logs, PVT correlations and publistefdrmation, either from the pool in question oorh a similar
reservoir producing from the same zone. Recovectofa were selected from the results of analytieaervoir
analyses.

No PVT data were available for the Ogedeh-1 welhe Toil properties were estimated based on standard
correlations, in addition to certain regional caselies for different fields located in the Nigeela Basin.

The range of values used in the probabilistic estiionm is shown in Table 2.

The technically recoverable oil volumes presentedthis assessment were based on capital budgetsaand
development program as presented by the Comparg.d€kelopment plan of the field includes reentetimg
Ogedeh-1 well in 2015 and performing extended wesdts on zones B1, B2 and D4. Based on the resuttse
tests, a dual completion is possible. If the resok the tests are favorable, two more delineati@iis may be
drilled in 2016 and 2017.
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The resources were classified in accordance with @OGEH definitions presented in Appendix A and are
consistent with NI 51-101 and used by Sproule.

Petroleum initially-in-place on Company interestda were classified as discovered accumulationscbas the log
results of the Ogedeh-1 well drilled by Chevrorl@93. Qil is reported to have been recovered fratMDT” test

but the well reports which would contain the resuif this test and the fluid recovered are notlaké. The log
results from this well and some of the sands ofAfbada Formation are similar in nature to the Algbeeservoir
sands in the nearby Ajapa Field, producing oil sidanuary 2010, the much larger Beniboye Fielddymimg oil

since prior to 2010; and the Akepo Field, whichuisler development for commercial production. The@dpn
Formation is also the reservoir for several otlmmmercial oil fields in the Niger River Delta Basin

The contingent resources have not been riskechéochance of development. All the volumes presergptesent
unrisked volumes.

Project Maturity Sub-Class

The resource volumes from the Ogedeh Field have blessified by Sproule as contingent resourcegldpment
on hold, subject only to commercial factors.

Significant Positive and Negative Factors

Significant positive factors relevant to the esti@sanclude:
- Availability of geological data (seismic and Jaaver the Ogedeh Field.
- The zones of interest in the well Ogedeh-1 cancbrrelated to adjacent fields that are at a more
advanced stage of development. Ajapa and Benibagles=are on production and Akepo Field where
DST's have been performed to demonstrate the clityabf the zones and commercial production is

pending.

- Availability of infrastructure in the immediatacinity for the transportation, processing andesad the
product.

- Environmental Impact Assesment has been appraudds valid for five years. A well re-entry petmi
was previously approved, but has expired demoirstrahat reissuance of the permit should not be a
problem.

Significant negative factors relevant to the estenanclude:
- The plans to re-enter the well Ogedeh-1 andigoetdevelopment of the field based on the re-emdne
been planned for several years, but different fadt@ave prevented the Company from proceeding théh
work.
- Lack of financing. The Company has made progtessrds implementing plans that may provide for
funding of the Ogedeh field development, but sdviretors of a legal and political nature still raim
unsolved.

- There was no production test on the Ogedeh-Lmaking economics uncertain.

Table 2 presents the volumetric inputs of the phbdlstic analysis. Table 3 presents a summary efrétoverable
contingent oil resources.
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Table 1
James Bay Resources Limited
Ogedeh Field, Nigeria
Well List and Production Summary
(As of December 31, 2014)

Rig Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative
Well Name Field Zone Well Zone Release Oil Production Watef Gas_
Current Status Date (Mbbl) Production Production
(Mbbl) (MMcf)
Ogedeh-1 Ogedeh N/A D&A 1993 0 0 0
Ogedeh-2 Ogedeh N/A D&A 1994 0 0 0
Page 10
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Ogedeh Field, Nigeria
Probablistic Volumetric Input Distributions

Table 2

Agbada Formation
Probabilistic Input Distributions, B1-Sandstone

Gross Rock Volume, acre*ft

Met-to-Gross Ratio, fraction

Porosity, %

Oil Saturation, %

Oil FVF, rb/stb

0il Recovery Factor, %

P20

3,620

0.85

26

==

1.16

15.0

P50

12,600

0.50

i

76

131

27.5

Probabilistic Input Distributions, B2-Sandstone

Gross Rock Volume, acre®ft
Met-to-Gross Ratio, fraction
Porosity, %

Oil Saturation, %

Qil FVF, rb/sth

0il Recovery Factor, %

Pa0

Gis

0.83

22

59

1.16

20.0

P50

1,330

0,90

24

63

1.31

30.0

Probabilistic Input Distributions, D4-Sandstone

Gross Rock Volume, acre®*ft
Net-to-Gross Ratio, fraction
Porosity, %

0il Saturation, %

Oil FVF, rb/sth

0il Recovery Factor, %

Po0

7,490

0.85

24

Fi

1.26

20.0

27

a2

1.47

30.0

P10

28,400

0.95

32

84

1.37

40.0

P10

2,170

0.95

26

72

1.37

40.0

P10

9,070

0.95

20

91

1.61

40.0

Distribution Type
Log Normal
Naormal
Hormal
Haormal
Stretched Beta

Normal

Distribution Type
Log Normal
Normal
Hormal
Hormal
Stretched Beta

Normal

Distribution Type
Log MNormal
Normal
Hormal
Hormal
Stretched Beta

Naormal

(S

James Bay

Resources Limited
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Table 3
Ogedeh Field, Nigeria
Estimates of Contingent® Oil Resources (Unrisked)
as of December 31, 2014

Contingent 0il Resources (Unrisked)

Company
Discovered Oil Recovery Re?:f:::;h Cumulative Production to | Project Gross Remaining Ol Gross
Resources Project Initially-In-Place Factor % December 31, 2014 Resources’ 0il Resources®
Maturity Sub-Class oil
(MbbI) (%) (Mbbi) (Mbbi) (MbbI) (Mbbi)
Contingent (2C) P50
Development On H 24,600 28 6,850 - 6,850 3,352

Notes:

1) Contingent Resources are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable froam known

ac ions using d technology or technology under development, but which are not ci ¥ o to be ially
recoverable due to one or more contingencies. Contingencies may include factors such as economic, legal, environmental, political, and

regulatory matters, or lack of markets. The contingency that prevents the classification of contingent resources as reserves is commerciality.
There is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the reported resources.

1) "Project Gross™ means 100% working interest volumes before deducting royalties and burdens.

3) "Company Gross"™ means Company working interest volumes before deducting royalties and burdens

4) Due to rounding, certain totals may not be consistent from one presentation to the next

0 James Bay
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PETROLEUM PROPERTY INTERESTS

OML 90 PROJECT

In order to earn its interest in the OML 90 Projetames Bay is required to pay an aggregate amafunt
US$2,500,000 as follows:

e US$100,000 due 90 days from the date of executi@d®eé or within 24 hours of the execution of the
JOA and the DOA, whichever is earlier (paid in 2012

e US$200,000 due upon approval from DPR of the assign of direct interest in OML 90 Project to
the Company (paid in 2013).

+ US$300,000 to be released upon the grant of govemhipermit for drilling activity at the OML 90
project and the arrival of a drill rig at the OMIO $roject. The government permit was received in
March 2014. Of this amount, US$100,000 was prepaior to December 31, 2013. The remaining
US$200,000 has not yet been paid as the secondtioond not met.

e US$1,000,000 upon completion of a final independepbort of P1 reserves of at least 7,000,000
proven recoverable barrels of oil, or if such reselevels are not attained, the Company shall pay
US$0.10 per barrel of oil produced, to a maximuny8f1,000,000.

* US$900,000 upon the completion of 60 days of commkproduction.

Included in long-term prepaid as at December 31,428nd 2013 is US$100,000 ($104,050) payment made i
advance of the receipt of the grant of governmeninit for drilling activity and arrival of a drillig at the OML 90
project.

Furthermore, the Company will pay a monthly managi@metainer of US$30,000, which will commence ufiua
date of the drill rig arriving at the OML 90 projeand ending on the commencement of commercial ymtozh.
The Company will provide funds required to finarithe OML 90 project to its initial production of hyatarbons
(oil) on a commercially viable scale. Any sunktsascurred exclusively by the Vendor will be reimnbed up to a
maximum of US$500,000.

The Company is entitled to a preferential returl8@% of the available cash flow from oil productianOML 90
until all costs of the joint operation (capital amgerating expenditures) incurred by the Compargetathe first oil
have been fully reimbursed. The remaining 20%@ilable cash flow during this stage of productisrshared
between the Company and the Vendor in proportiothér relative percentage interest. After alihjobperation
costs have been fully recovered by the Companyréh®ining revenue shall be shared between the @aynand
Vendor in proportion to their relative percentageerests.

The DPR is currently reviewing all marginal fielddnses to determine if the current owners have @mough
work to keep their license. The nature and extémtark is not clearly defined by the DPR.

The OML-90 Project is currently on hold. The Comygargoal is to re-enter the well with the goal @hemercial
production subject to financing. After re-entrytbé discovery well and an expected Long Term TEETY, a new
well will be drilled as an appraisal well to defitiee in-place volumes.
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JAMES BAY MINERAL PROPERTY
James Bay Lowlands property (the “Property”)

Introduction

The McFauld's Lake area has been the focus of mamgr exploration companies, beginning with thecdivery of
significant VMS-style mineralization by Spider Rasces in 2003 and more recently with the discowarhigh-
grade Ni-Cu mineralization in two separate aread\byont Resources in 2007 and 2008, in additio€hoomite
discoveries by Noront and Freewest Resources i8 28@ 2009. The area was previously explored bydeesfor
diamonds in which VMS mineralization was intersdctiuring a drill program for kimberlites. Prior these
exploration activities, the McFauld’s Lake area wasextensively explored.

The exploration targets sought in the McFauld’sd.akea are nickel (Ni), copper (Cu) and platinuougrelements
(PGE) — known as Ni-Cu-PGE deposits —Chrome (Qupdbin chromite or chromitite deposits — coppeadi¢Pb)
and zinc (Zn) or Cu-Pb-Zn deposits — known as vagenic massive sulphide (VMS) deposits — gold (Au)
associated with high sulphide iron formation, galsisociated with low sulphide concentrations, andsibte
diamond deposits associated with kimberlite pipes.

The Company drilled the property during the fall2if08. A total of 373 samples were collected frbinholes
totalling just over 2100 metres. The drilling pragn was designed to test airborne geophysical EMiectors
discovered through 5 separate surveys.

The Company capitalized a total of $2,433,662 pl@ration and evaluation assets. On June 29, 2B@ZZompany
announced that it had signed an agreement to &cqui7% interest in a Nigerian oil and gas profsee below).
As a result of the Company’s change in focus t@pimg oil and gas assets in Nigeria, the JamesHBagerty was
written off.

In February 2013, the Company engaged MacDonalce$lio complete a GPS survey of all corner clainmtspos
following the proper protocol as defined by the Miry of Northern Development and Mines. This syrwill
form the basis for a report of work, which will bebmitted for assessment credits once all datdbodas reviewed
from MacDonald Mines. The data was received froatBlonald Mines in February 2014, submitted as assest
work and accepted in March 2014. During the twetvenths ended December 31, 2014, the Company gdurr
$3,010 of interest on consulting fees payable (b 31, 2013 - $198,489 of consulting fees) to Mawald to
complete the GPS survey.

As part of the MacDonald agreement, the Company wlligated to issue 50,000 warrants to MacDonald
exercisable for five years with an exercise prigaat to the issue price of the financing requiredbé completed in
relation to the change of business.

The Company issued 50,000 warrants to MacDonal@ainber 30, 2014, which coincides with the effeetigting
of the Company’s shares in CSE as oil and gasrissibe warrants entitle the holder to purchase @sm@amon
shares of the Company at a price of $1.25 expoim@ctober 30, 2019.

On December 19, 2014, the Company settled an aggregtal debt of $55,338 owing to MacDonald thtoug
issuance of an aggregate of 55,338 units. Eadhisiodomprised of one common share and one-halfanar Each
warrant is exercisable for a common share at & mfié1.25 for 5 years from the date of issuance.

As part of ongoing discussions with MacDonald Mimdisring the fall of 2014, it became apparent that n
exploration work could be conducted in the areath®f mining claims due to First Nations issues. fdaot,
MacDonald Mines had applied for and was grantebariusion of Time Order pursuant to Section 6738yf the
Mining Act as part of First Nations consultationgder the Plans and Permits requirements. An Exgiusf Time
Order on mining claims in Ontario means that thgur@ment to perform and file assessment work leydlaim
anniversary or due date has been put on hold figed period of time at the discretion of the Miieis
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A request for an Exclusion of Time under Section(bywas made to MNDM on October 23, 2014, forJ®dR
claims with the assistance of MacDonald Mines. @dims were put under Special Status, but an Eiauof
Time Order was only granted to claims with due si@eDecember 2014. The Exclusion of Time Ordemily for
1 year, meaning that JBR must re-apply for the sioh of Time if the First Nations issues have lmen resolved,
further preventing proponents access to their rgiclaims.

As part of the initial Exclusion of Time Order, MWD further advised JBR that additional ExclusionTofme

requests must be made to MNDM for the balance @fcthims in the original request, but the additioeguests
must be made within 30 days of the claim due dagsfar, two additional requests have been madéNBM on

January 13, 2015, and March 10, 2015. One lasiestqnust be submitted to MNDM in May for the 18iwis due
in June 2015 in order to maintain the active stafusl JBR claims.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUER WITHOUT SI GNIFICANT REVENUE
Evaluation Costs

In accordance with IFRS 6 “Exploration for and exdlon of mineral resources”, only expenditures tten be
directly associated with finding specific minerabources can be capitalized to exploration anduatiah assets.
Specifically, all expenditures incurred pre-licensiare not eligible exploration and evaluation ags@enditures
and have thus been expensed as evaluation costs.

During the year-ended December 31, 2014, the Compasurred $5,041,927 in pre-licensing costs relate
pursuing OML-25. The Company incurred an accumdldtalance of $5,208,391 in evaluation costs on CML-
and has extended a loan to Crestar in the amou$2,860,880 from June 2014 to December 31, 2014.13&n
receivable is classified as impairment on equityegiment in the statement of loss and compreheissge The
Company funded an aggregate amount of $7,469,2T0MIn-25 Project as at December 31, 2014.

During the year-ended December 31, 2013, the Coyjacurred $637,217 in pre-licensing costs related
pursuing OML 90. On May 17, 2013, the Honourablenister of Petroleum Resources granted approvathier
assignment of the 47% participating interest in @dL 90 Project to the Company’s subsidiary, DHENIhe
expenditures incurred after May 17, 2013, on theL(¥@ Project were capitalized to the exploratiod amaluation
asset.
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Included in 2014 evaluation costs balance are OMLpg&-licensing costs ($5,041,927) and Ondobittéchipre-
licensing costs ($60,936). The total balance o1®3,863 is detailed as follows:

Description December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

$ $
Management fe€$ 268,270 263,205
Consulting fee§) 2,832,212 20,200
Travel, meals and accommodation 218,585 135,589
Professional fees 343,755 49,433
Technical reports 170,336 -
Environmental 62,186 -
Due diligence 11,049 -
License and permit 3,359 -
Commitment fee&” 908,638 -
Amortization 13,644 13,279
General and administrative expense 270,830 155,51
Balance 5,102,863 637,217

Note

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Management fees
Included in management fees is a balance of $11(2083 — a credit balance of $6,375) non-cash share
based payments made to an officer of the Company.

Consulting fees

Non-cash, share based payment to M2 Advisors (‘iciteust”)

On February 4, 2015, the Company issued to a ctamu3,500,000 common shares in the capital of the
Company. The shares were issued in accordance théthterms of a service agreement between the
Company and CINRL completed during the year endedeimber 31, 2014. The shares are subject to a
statutory hold period of four months from the dafeissuance. At December 31, 2014, the Company
recorded a value of $2,341,500 as shares to bedssuo the statement of financial position. Includted
consulting fees is a balance of $2,341,500 (Dece®bge2013 - $nil) in non-cash share based payments

Anbas Energy System (“Anbas”)

In June 2014, CINRL was selected as the winningldridor a 45% participating interest in OML 25.
Crestar engaged a local professional consulting fw provide services during the pre-bid and padt b
advisory which includes data room document reviewiew of crude handling agreement, review of crude
sales off-take agreement, technical supports, legdladvisory supports among other services. ledud
consulting fees is approximately $456,750 (US$403)$ertaining to these professional services.

Professional fees
The Company retained a Nigerian legal counsel aleitly our Canadian legal counsel in project related
and general corporate matters. For the year endederbber 31, 2014, the Company incurred
approximately $201,800 (US$182,668) and $107,313$%37,125) for services rendered by these two law
firms respectively.

Commitment fees

The Company undertook to pay non-refundable firaméees of $908,638 (US$600,000) to arrangers and
an underwriter who has been engaged to assistdh@@&hy in securing financing in the bidding for OML
25.
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Exploration and Evaluation Asset

In May 2013, the Company received licensing apdromathe Ogedeh Project. Since the license to ezgle area
has been secured, all expenditures directly agsaicisith finding specific mineral resources subssduo May 17,
2013 have thus been capitalized to explorationeaadiiation assets.

As at December 31, 2014, the Company capitalizediraulative balance of $4,086,924 (2013 - $959,8h7)
exploration and evaluation assets post licensitega@ to its interest in OML-90.

Twelve months ended Twelve months ended

Description December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 Total

$ $ $
Acquisition costs - 207,080 207,080
Management and consulting fees 163,082 410,544 6383,
Environmental 92,161 - 92,161
Travel, meals and accommodation 4,210 17,205 21,415
Professional fees 16,467 8,790 25,257
Legal fees 28,216 5,067 33,283
Share-based paymefits 2,704,089 23,852 2,727,941
Amortization 7,507 21,760 29,267
General and administrative expense 111,375 265,519 376,894
Balance 3,127,107 959,817 4,086,924

Note

(i) Share-based payments

On March 21, 2011, the Company signed a memoramfumderstanding (the "MoU") to conduct due diligen
and if a suitable target is identified, to formpesial purpose vehicle (the "SPV") with D&H SolutidS (“D&H")
to further evaluate the identified oil and gas aydties in Nigeria, and if suitable, negotiate agreement to
acquire and develop such assets.

On January 5, 2012, a new agreement was signed#tH. The new agreement calls for the transferabf
Nigerian agreements and the corporations that wilyrdold these agreements into a wholly owned Nége
subsidiary of the Company. This subsidiary (Jamag Bnergy Nigeria Limited, “JBENL”) was incorpordt®n
February 27, 2012. In addition, the Company withire certain senior management of D&H as senioragament
of JBENL. In consideration, the Company has agteeidsue to D&H share based compensation in tha fof
units consisting of one common share and one Hadhe common share purchase warrant, each wholenoom
share purchase warrant entitling the holder to mequne common share at a price of $1.25 for aopesf two years
from issuance. The units are to be issued asWello

« 3,000,000 units upon the closing of a definitivereggnent being entered into with regards to an
acquisition of an interest in an oil and gas projadNigeria and upon attaining mining licensesniro
the Ministry of Mines in Nigeria; and

+ 3,000,000 units upon the Company reaching 1,50@elsanil equivalent (“BOE”) per day or a
minimum recoverable estimate of 50 million BOE.

On July 31, 2014, the agreement dated January B, 20as terminated. In exchange for this termimatide
Company has agreed to issue 3,000,000 units aZdimepany to D&H. The Company issued these unit®ciober
30, 2014, the first day the Company’s shares wsted on CSE as an oil and gas issuer. Eachsunirprised of
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one common share and one-half of one common purclasrant. Each warrant comprising part of thesuis
exercisable for a common share at a price of $b28 years from the date of issuance.

The estimated fair value of the common shares wa22$,000 using the stock price on October 30, 20hé
estimated fair value of the warrants was $442,98fguthe Black-Scholes option pricing model witke following
assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, etqukvolatility of 100%, a risk-free interest ratel.01% and an
expected life of 2 years.

Included in share-based payments is an aggrega®b2287 non-cash payment to D&H Solution AS. The
remaining balance of $64,954 represents the aoarefishare-based compensation for stock opticuedin 2012
to the President and CEO of the James Bay subgidianpanies.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue

The Company is in the exploration and evaluatiayestand therefore, did not have revenues from tipesa
Interest expense for the year ended December 314 @@&s $24,078 (2013 - $12,215). Fourth quartesrést
expense was $4,457 compared to interest incomel4P3$3 from the same period in 2013. Interest expesn
derived from interest on due to shareholders.

Expenses

The Company recorded total expenses of $6,252,82thé year ended December 31, 2014 (2013 - $302Y,
The increase in expenses is mainly due to an isereievaluation cost of $5,102,863 (2013 - $637%)2thcluded
in the $5,102,863 evaluation costs are non-casitestased payments in the amount of $2,704,089tHquarter
expenses were $2,163,949, reflecting an increa$é,849,958 from the same period in 2013. Thisaiiyg due to
the increase in non-cash, share-based paymengtaked in the evaluation costs table.

Net loss and comprehensive loss

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Compasgrded net loss and comprehensive loss of $7,667,4
(December 31, 2013 - $1,886,868) with basic andtetil loss per share of $0.24 (December 31, 201B06% As
noted above, the increase is mainly attributablartancrease of evaluation costs in Nigeria congp#oethe same
period in 2013. Fourth quarter net loss and cormgsive loss was $3,496,180, reflecting an incre&$8,327,110
from the same period in 2013.

CASH FLOWS

Operating Activities

The Company had a net cash outflow of $4,305{¥cember 31, 2013 - $2,293,199) from operatiniyisies for
the year ended December 31, 2014. The increasessmautflow of $2,012,246 is mainly attributablehe increase
in spending on the acquisition of OML-25. Fourttadar cash used in operating activities was $9&/,8%lecting
a decrease of $164,048 from the same period in.2013

Investing Activities

The Company had a net cash outflow of $396,385 ¢bwer 31, 2013 - $607,300) from investing actisifier the
year ended December 31, 2014. Fourth quarter casbrated from investing activities was $861,27 ¢ampared
to cash outflow of $26,082 in the same period ih20

Financing Activities

The Company had a net cash inflow of $4,798,174¢bder 31, 2013 - $1,676,218) from financing adésitfor

the year ended December 31, 2014. During the yleaiCompany closed four private placements faaggregated
proceeds of $5,561,090. In addition, the Compasgived loans of $1,533,893 from a shareholden@fompany
and repaid $1,881,978 of those loans in fiscal 20h# loans were unsecured; bearing interest apéfannum
and due on demand. The Company generated $46 fh5@@aumcing activities in the fourth quarter.
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SELECTED ANNUAL AND QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Selected data from James Bay's financial statenfmnthe year ending December 31, 2014, and fortie
preceding financial years are as follows:

2014 2013 2012
$ $ $

Interest (expense) revenue (24,078) (12,215) 41,931

Expenses 6,252,322 2,049,312 3,782,064

Net loss and comprehensive loss

attributable to:

e Non-controlling interest 2,208,438 113,405 -
e Common shareholders 5,448,968 1,773,463 6,201,439

Basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to the common

shareholders of James Bay 0.24 0.06 0.22

Exploration and evaluation assets 4,086,924 959,817 -

Total assets 4,568,433 2,702,931 2,201,014

Total liabilities 883,125 2,673,447 176,167

Shareholders’ equity 3,685,298 107,561 2,024,847

Non-controlling interest - (78,077) -

Note
® Net loss and comprehensive loss
In 2014, the Company incurred in excess of $5.1lionilin evaluation costs as compared to
approximately $637,000 in 2013. The evaluation £astinly relate to expenditures incurred in the
successful bidding of the OML 25 Project. The mateexpenses consisted of consulting fees that
account for approximately $2,832,212, professidaas of approximately $343,200 and commitment
fees of approximately $909,000. Included in cotisglfees is a balance of $2,341,500 (December 31,
2013 - $nil) in non-cash share based payments.
Prior to June 2014, the Company accounted for CINBhg the consolidation method. Effective July
3, 2014, the Company lost control of CINRL. The rdj@ in accounting policy from consolidation to
the equity method resulted in $28,823,548 of gaindeconsolidation of Crestar. This is offset by
$27,991,600 of break fees incurred in CINRL and26@,880 impairment on equity investment in
CINRL. The net impacts are the increase in the @aiteted net loss and comprehensive loss is
approximately $1,428,932.
(ii) Exploration and evaluation assets

The Company incurred approximately $3,127,000 ipl@ation and evaluation asset costs in fiscal
2014 as compared to approximately $959,800 in Ifi2€d3, of which approximately $2,704,000
relates to non-cash, share-based payment.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

Quarter-ended
December 31, | September 30, June 30, March 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014
$ $ $ $
Working capital (deficiency) (610,170) 91,457 (1,336,282) (909,376)
Exploration and evaluation assets 4,086,924 12382, 1,182,752 1,013,615
Operating expenses 2,163,949 2,068,716 696,134 1,323,523
Interest income (expense) (4,487) (4,881) (9,791) 4,999)
Net loss and comprehensive loss
attributable to:
e Non-controlling interest
e Common Shareholders 695,275 588,203 290,772 634,188
2,800,905 1,523,041 414,399 710,623
Net loss and comprehensive loss per
share attributable to the common
shareholders of James Bay 0.02 0.05 0.01 0.02
Quarter-ended
December 31, | September 30, June 30, March 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
$ $ $ $
Working capital (deficiency) (1,177,030) (360,817) 309,497 1,033,582
Exploration and evaluation assets 959,817 597,318 320,492 -
Operating expenses 313,991 478,525 461,014 795,782
Interest income (expense) 14,923 - 262 2,446
Net loss and comprehensive loss
attributable to:
* Non-controlling interest
Common Shareholders 113,405 - - -
55,665 445,706 479,467 792,627
Net loss (income) and
comprehensive loss (income) per
share attributable to the common (0.01) 0.02 0.02 0.03
shareholders of James Bay

Notes: Net loss per share on a diluted basis isdh®e as basic net loss per share, as all outstpsitick options and warrants are anti-dilutive.
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LIQUIDITY AND OUTLOOK

As at December 31, 2014, the Company had no safraperating cash inflows and reported a net lasd a
comprehensive loss for the year-end of $7,657 ,4@baadeficit of $17,099,582. Because of continudpgrating
losses and a working capital deficiency, the Comgfsacontinuance as a going concern is dependemt itgability
to obtain equity capital and financing for its wimdx capital and for the exploration, developmerd aperation of
its properties.

The Company’s opinion concerning liquidity and ésility to avail itself in the future of the finaimg options
mentioned above are based on currently availalitegrivation. To the extent that this information peevto be
inaccurate, future availability of financing may hdversely affected. Factors that could affectatailability of
financing include the Company’s performance (assuesd by various factors including the progressrasdlts of
its exploration work) and equity markets, invegterceptions and expectations of past and futurgeance, the
global financial climate.

CAPITAL RESOURCES

Common shares

At December 31, 2014 the Company had 37,974,070remmshares issued and outstanding. In February, 2085
Company issued an additional 3,500,000 common shiirea consulting company As at April 30, 2015, the
Company has 41,474,070 common shares issued astdrding.

Warrants

At December 31, 2014 and April 30, 2015, the Congptzars 8,730,844 issued and outstanding warrantsexjpiry
dates ranging from January 31, 2017 to Decembe20®). The weighted average exercise price fovattants is
$1.24. All warrants entitle the holder to purchasenmon shares of the Company.

Stock options

At December 31, 2014 and April 30, 2015, a totaB80®,000 stock options are issued and outstanditigexpiry
dates ranging from June 11, 2015 to June 1, 20& vikeighted average exercise price for all stotloop is $0.66.
All stock options entitle the holder to purchasencmon shares of the Company. On March 5, 2015,0200stock
options expired and remain unexercised. At Apri] 3015, the Company has 600,000 stock options dssnel
outstanding.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company's risk exposures and the impact onCin@pany's financial instruments are summarizedvielo
There have been no significant changes in the,ridljectives, policies and procedures from the ipres/period.

Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily attributalie cash and cash equivalents and amounts receivabe
Company has no significant concentration of creiik arising from operations. Cash equivalents sinsf
guaranteed investment certificates that have beeested with reputable financial institutions, frowhich
management believes the risk of loss to be remddeagement believes that the credit risk conceaatratith
respect to cash equivalents and amounts receiisatdenote.

Liquidity risk

The Company's approach to managing liquidity riskid ensure that it will have sufficient liquiditp meet
liabilities when due. At December 31, 2014, the @any had cash and restricted cash of $141(P48ember 31,
2013 - $1,113,299) to settle current liabilities$®B83,125 (December 31, 2013 - $2,673,447). Thagamy has a
working capital deficiency of $610,170 (December, 2D13 working capital deficiency of $1,177,030heT
Company's financial liabilities generally have gaontual maturities of less than 30 days and argestito normal
trade terms.

Currency Risk

The reporting currency of the Company is in Canadiallars. The Company enters into transaction®oémated
in United State dollars, Nigerian naira for whidfetrelated expenses accounts payable balanceslgextsto
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exchange rate fluctuations. The functional curreotgach of the Company’s operating subsidiariehésUnited
State dollar. The Company does not specificallygleeit exposure to foreign currency.

Market risk

€) Interest rate risk

The Company has cash balances and no interestigatabt. The Company's current policy is to inwe&tess cash
in investment-grade short-term guaranteed invedtroentificates issued by its banking institutiomtie Company
periodically monitors the investments it makes mnshtisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.

(b) Price risk
The ability of the Company to pursue its resourderests and the future profitability of the Compas directly
related to the market price of oil and gas.

(c) Foreign currency risk

The Company is subject to foreign exchange riskheasCompany has certain assets and liabilities, raales
certain expenditures, in US dollars and Nigeriarda'he Company is therefore subject to gainslasses due to
fluctuations in the US dollar and the Naira relatto the Canadian dollar. The Company does najéhéd foreign
exchange risk.

Sensitivity analysis
Based on management's knowledge and experiendee dinancial markets, the Company believes theofalg
movements are reasonably possible over a twelvethmpmaTriod.

As at December 31, 2014, the Company has net nmynidailities denominated in US dollars of appnmstely

US$326,887 (2013 — US$351,500). A 10% change enviilue of the Canadian dollar relative to the W8ad

would result in a corresponding change in net tdsgpproximately $37,922 (2013 — $37,591) basetherbalance
of these amounts held in US dollars at Decembe2@14.

Fair Value

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, ansoreteivable and accounts payable and accruedtiedand due
to shareholders approximate their fair value duetht® relatively short periods to maturity of thendncial
instruments.

Fair value hierarchy and liquidity risk disclosure

Fair value measurements are classified using avédire hierarchy that reflects the significancehef inputs used in
making the measurements. The fair value hierarbhil have the following levels: (a) quoted pricasddjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilitfesvel 1); (b) inputs other than quoted pricesuded in Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, eitheedtly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., dexd from prices) (Level
2); and (c) inputs for the asset or liability tlaa¢ not based on observable market data (unobsernvgiits) (Level
3). As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Compdrad no financial instruments carried at fair galu

t James Bay Page 22



RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUCEMENTS AND CHANGES IN ACCO UNTING POLICIES

Recent accounting pronouncements

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB@iRERIC that are mandatory for accounting perimdsr after
January 1, 2015 or later periods. Many are notiegiple or do not have a significant impact to trempany and
have been excluded. The following has not yet tmpted and is being evaluated to determine itadnpn the
Company.

IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issiny the IASB in November 2009 with additions intQxer

2010 and May 2013 and will replace IAS 39 Finanmatruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS)3FFRS

9 uses a single approach to determine whetherladial asset is measured at amortized cost ovdiie, replacing
the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFR& based on how an entity manages its finanog&timents in
the context of its business model and the contehatash flow characteristics of the financial ass#tost of the
requirements in 1AS 39 for classification and meament of financial liabilities were carried forwlamnchanged to
IFRS 9, except that an entity choosing to measuiraacial liability at fair value will present thgortion of any
change in its fair value due to changes in thetygatown credit risk in other comprehensive incomrather than
within profit or loss. The new standard also regglia single impairment method to be used, replati@gnultiple

impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effectige dnnual periods beginning on or after JanuaB018. Earlier
adoption is permitted though management does riziate early adoption of the standard.

IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements ("IFRS 11") was amdridéMay 2014 adding new guidance on how to accéamt
the acquisition of an interest in a joint operatibat constitutes a business. The amendments gjkeifippropriate
accounting treatment for such acquisitions. Thigament becomes effective for annual periods béginon or
after January 1, 2016 and management does noipatéiearly adoption of the standard.

IAS 1 — Presentation of Financial Statements (“lBpwas amended in December 2014 in order to glaamong
other things, that information should not be obsduby aggregating or by providing immaterial infation, that
materiality consideration apply to all parts of theancial statements and that even when a standaydires a
specific disclosure, materiality considerationsapply. The amendments are effective for annuabgermeginning
on or after January 1, 2016. Earlier adoption pteahi

IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures (“IAS 24") wasemded by the IASB on December 12, 2013. The amentim
clarify the identification and disclosure requirertefor related party transactions when key manageémpersonnel
services are provided by a management entity. Tiendments are effective for annual periods beggoim or
after July 1, 2014. The adoption of these amendsnentnot expected to have an impact on the Company
consolidated financial statements.

Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company has adopted the following new standeatisig with any consequential amendments, effectiv
January 1, 2014. These changes were made in armaravith the applicable transitional provisions.

IAS 32 — Financial Instruments: Presentation (“I3%) was amended by the IASB in December 2011 #wifgl
certain aspects of the requirements on offsettifige amendments focus on the criterion that atyectirrently has
a legally enforceable right to set off the recogdiamounts and the criterion that an entity intexither to settle on
a net basis, or to realize the asset and settlkathibty simultaneously. The adoption of thisstlard did not result
in any changes to the Company’s disclosure ofrignicial instruments.

IAS 36 — Impairments of Assets (“IAS 36”) was ameddy the IASB in May 2013 to clarify the requirerteto

disclose the recoverable amounts of impaired asselsrequire additional disclosures about the nreasent of

impaired assets when the recoverable amount igllmaséair value less costs of disposal, includimg discount rate
when a present value technique is used to mealeretoverable amount. The adoption of this stahdal not

result in any changes to the Company'’s disclostiits assets.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The consolidated financial statements include le@arand transactions with directors and officerthefCompany
and/or corporations related to them. During theyeaded December 31, 2014 and 2013 the Compaesedrinto
the following transactions involving related pastie

The Company rents office space from a corporatiith ommon directors and officers. During the yeaded
December 31, 2014, approximately $40,535 (DecerBheR013 - $49,030) was charged by this corporaflte
amount is included in office and general expenstherstatement of loss and comprehensive lossof Becember
31, 2014, included in accounts payable and acdiabtiities is $707 (December 31, 2013 - $44,14&)my to this
corporation.

The Company incurred legal fees of approximatel§g@59 (December 31, 2013 - $236,689) with a lam f
which a director of the Company. This amount isluded in professional fees on the statement of hrss
comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2014, ireduidh accounts payable and accrued liabilities 98,390
(December 31, 2013 - $191,620) owing to this lamf{i

In accordance with IAS 24, key management persoarethose having authority and responsibility gamning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Qmamy directly or indirectly, including any directofexecutive and
non-executive) of the Company. The remuneratiotirgfctors and other members of key management peeséor
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 wéoHass:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

$ $
Management salaries and benefits and director fees 893,051 777,257
Share-based payments 14,167 17,477

Included in accounts payable and accrued liaksligs at December 31, 2014 is approximately $2,2063 -
$191,620) management travel expenses reimburseandr$#40,000 (2013 - $nil) director fees.

All of the above amounts payable to related pagresunsecured, non-interest bearing, with no fbeechs of
repayment.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Management contracts

The Company is party to certain management comstraihese contracts contain clauses requiring aahaditi
payments of up to $1,584,000 be made upon the mme of certain events such as a change of coatdl
termination. As a triggering event has not takesce] the contingent payments have not been refléntéhese
condensed interim consolidated financial statemé&fsler these management contracts, $840,000 iwithien one
year.

Financing

During 2013, the Company entered into an agreemdtht a corporation that will work with the Company
facilitate the acquisition of oil and gas proje@®sirsuant to the agreement, the Company will piee af 2% of the
transaction cost on the closing of an acquisitidme Company may also be required to pay an additi@e of 2%
of the transaction cost in equal quarterly paymener 10 years. As a triggering event has not tgdene, the
contingent payments have not been reflected iretbesdensed interim consolidated financial statésnen

Under the terms of a financing agreement entereddaoring 2014, the Company may be liable for 062,000
termination payment should a certain oil and gaperty in Nigeria be acquired.

t James Bay Page 24




Environmental

The Company’'s exploration and evaluation activigge subject to various laws and regulations gamgrithe
protection of the environment. These laws and agus are continually changing and generally beogrmore
restrictive. The Company believes its operations araterially in compliance with all applicable lawsid
regulations. The Company has made, and expeatske in the future, expenditures to comply withhslaavs and
regulations.

Mak Mera

On March 9, 2011, James Bay entered into a leftémntent with a Nigerian oil and gas service prarndMAK
MERA. On February 1, 2012, a new agreement with MRMIERA was signed. The new consulting services
agreement calls for the issuance of cash and constmanes of the Company to MAK MERA as follows:

e Cash payment of US$165,000 upon signing a defsdigreement (paid).

e 3,500,000 common shares upon the closing of aitleéragreement being entered into with regards to
an acquisition of an interest in an oil and gagegmtoin Nigeria and upon attaining mining licenses
from the Ministry of Mines in Nigeria;

e 3,000,000 common shares if the project achieves:
(i) Average production of at least 1,500 BOE per dar @vperiod of 60 days, or
(i) A minimum recoverable estimate of 50 million BOE.

The obligations created and transactions conteegblay the agreement with MAK MERA are subject toeipt of
all requisite corporate, regulatory, shareholded eourt approvals (if required) and consents andrevtiequired,
the shareholders of the Company. The obligatioss afe subject to the Company obtaining approvahfchange
of business by the TSXV.

The Company received the mining license in 20L& gpect of an interest in an oil and gas projedtigeria under

a definitive agreement. However, no amounts haentaccrued relating to the above units and opasnESXV
approval has not been obtained for the change sihbss. The conditions contained in the agreeméht MAK
MERA must be met on or prior to December 31, 20diBerwise, any obligations of the Company under the
agreement shall cease to exist. The conditiong wet met by December 31, 2013 and as such thecaditre
issuances have not been made and no amounts havaderued for them in the consolidated finand&tesnents.

The Company is party to legal proceedings in théinary course of its operations related to legdligding
agreements with various third parties under coimgutigreements. As at December 31, 2014 one sudegding
was ongoing, relating to a services agreement gefid. A former consultant of the Company is clagnthat a
payment in the amount of 3.5 million common sharfethe Company is owing to them. The Company bebethis
claim to be without merit. Management does noeekhe outcome of this proceeding to have a nakgadverse
effect on the results of the Company’s financiasipon or results of operations and therefore #nunt has not
been reflected in these financial statements. $hawoy losses result from the resolution of thipdis, that amount
will be charged to operations in the year thas détermined.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Share issuance

On February 4, 2015, the Company issued to a cam8,500,000 common shares in the capital oQbepany.
The shares were issued in accordance with the tefrasservice agreement between the Company andRICIN
completed during the year ended December 31, 20hd.shares are subject to a statutory hold perfofbior
months from the date of issuance. At December 814 2the Company recorded a value of $2,341,5Ghaes to
be issued on the statement of financial position.
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Further, the Company is obligated to issue an ehdit 3,400,000 finder warrants under the termshefservice
agreement. At December 31, 2014, the Company redoadvaluation $1,125,600 as warrants to be iseuneithe
statement of financial position.

Convertible Debenture

On April 16, 2015, the Company announced a nondmexk private placement of unsecured convertiblelieires
in the amount of $3 million. Each debenture shattan interest rate of 15%, payable semi-annuailig, have a
maturity date that is three years following theedat issuance. The debenture shall be converiiblesole or in
part at the option of the holders into common sharfethe Company at a conversion price of $0.17goenmon
share.

The offering is expected to close over a serigsamiches, with the final tranche to close on oobeMay 31, 2015.
The net proceeds from the offering will be usedutad the Company’s working capital including littgan issues
stemming from the Company’s enforcement of itstrighacquire 45% participating interest in OML-25Nigeria.

On March 20, 2015, the Company received $250,008ramk from a shareholder in connection with thevedible
debenture. On April 29, 2015, the Company raisextgeds of $1,599,925 in the first tranche of a biakered
private placement of unsecured convertible debent(see also “Due to shareholder” below).

Due to shareholder

Subsequent to year-end, the Company received appately $1,043,900 of additional advances fromRhesident
and CEO of the Company, who is also a shareholddrdirector of the Company. On April 29, 2015, fo#
balance of $1,349,925 was converted into convertiiebentures.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company has no off balance sheet arrangements.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company, through its subsidiary, holds inteirest petroleum property in Nigeria. As such, ieigposed to the
laws governing the Nigerian petroleum industry wigBpect to matters such as taxation, environmenotapliance,
and other regulatory and political factors as waslishifts in politics and labor unrest. Any of whiould adversely
affect the Company and its future exploration aratipction activities

Additional Capital

The Company conducted due diligence to identifyeptial acquisition targets of onshore/offshore Kaye oil and
gas projects. If the results are favourable, Compaitl require additional capital which may comeiin future
financings. There can be no assurance that thep@aynwill be able to raise such additional capit@ind when
required on terms it considers acceptable.

No History of Profitability

The Company is an exploration company with no Inystof profitability. There can be no assurance ttret
operations of the Company will be profitable in fiséure. The Company has limited financial resosraad will
require additional financing to further exploreydi®p, acquire, retain and engage in commerciadlyction on its
property interests and, if financing is unavailafde any reason, the Company may become unabledoire and
retain its mineral concessions and carry out isr®ss plan.

Government Regulations

The Company's exploration operations are subjecgaeernment legislation, policies and controls tieta to
prospecting, development, production, environmem@tection, mining taxes and labour standards. ther
Company to carry out mining activities, exploitatiticenses must be obtained and kept current. Themo
guarantee that the Company's exploitation licengmsld be extended or that new exploitation licensesild be
granted. In addition, such exploitation licensesldde changed and there can be no assurancemthapplication
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to renew any existing licenses will be approvede T®ompany may be required to contribute to the obst
providing the required infrastructure to facilitatee development of its properties. The Company aildo have to
obtain and comply with permits and licenses whichyntontain specific conditions concerning operating
procedures, water use, waste disposal, spills,r@mviental studies, abandonment and restorations péamd
financial assurances. There can be no assuraricéa¢h@ompany will be able to comply with any sgoimditions.

Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities

The market for minerals is influenced by many festbeyond the control of the Company such as chagngi
production costs, the supply and demand for ressurthe rate of inflation, the inventory of res@as@roducing
companies, the international economic and politealvironment, changes in international investmeattepns,
global or regional consumption patterns, costsubSstutes, currency availability and exchangesiatgerest rates,
speculative activities in connection with resourcasd increased production due to improved extraatud
production methods. The resources industry in gémeintensely competitive and there is no asstgdhat, even if
commercial quantities and qualities of resourcesdiscovered, a market will exist for profitabléesaCommercial
viability of precious and base metals and oil and deposits may be affected by other factors tleabayond the
Company’s control including particular attributefstioe deposit such as its size, quantity and quatlite cost of
mining and processing, proximity to infrastructed the availability of transportation and souroésnergy,
financing, government legislation and regulationsliding those relating to prices, taxes, royaltlaad tenure,
land use, import and export restrictions, exchacgrols, restrictions on production, as well agiemmental
protection. It is impossible to assess with cetyaihe impact of various factors which may affectmenercial
viability so that any adverse combination of suahtdrs may result in the Company not receiving daegaate
return on invested capital.

Mining Risks and Insurance

The Company is subject to the risks normally entenaa in the mining industry, such as unusual axpected
geological formations, cave-ins or flooding. Then@any may become subject to liability for polluti@amage to
life or property and other hazards of mineral exion against which it or the operator of its exption programs
cannot insure or against which it or such operatay elect not to insure because of high premiuntscosother
reasons. Payment of such liabilities would reducel$ available for acquisition of mineral prospestexploration
and development and could have a material advéfieset en the financial position of the Company.

Competition

The mineral exploration and mining industry is cetijive in all phases of exploration, developmend a
production. The Company competes with a numbeotbér entities and individuals in the search fod d&hne
acquisition of attractive properties. As a reilthis competition, the majority of which is wittompanies with
greater financial resources than the Company, trapgany may not be able to acquire attractive ptagsem the
future on terms it considers acceptable. Finaliy, Company competes with other resource compamiasy of
whom have greater financial resources and/or maseareced properties that are better able to attegcity
investments and other capital. The ability of @@mpany to acquire attractive properties in theriidepends not
only on its success in exploring adeveloping its present properties and on its gttititselect, acquire and bring to
production suitable properties or prospects for@agtion, mining and development. Factors beyoradbntrol of
the Company may affect the marketability of mingmained or discovered by the Company.

Environmental Protection

The mining and mineral processing industries albgesti to extensive governmental regulations forgtetection of

the environment, including regulations relatingtoand water quality, mine reclamation, solid &adardous waste
handling and disposal and the promotion of occopatihealth and safety which may adversely affeetGompany
or require it to expend significant funds.

Aboriginal Claims

Aboriginal rights may be claimed on Crown or othgres of tenure with respect to which mining rightsve been
granted. The Company is not aware of any aborigiteims having been asserted or any legal actielaimg to
native issues having been instituted with respeetty of the mineral claims in which the Compang &a interest.
Should aboriginal claims be made against the Ptppand should government or the courts in favorthe
aboriginal people resolve such a claim, it couldemally adversely affect the business of James &dy for the
James Bay lowlands property. The Company is fallyare of the mutual benefits afforded by coopeeativ
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relationships with indigenous people in conductiexploration activity and is fully supportive of nseames
established to achieve such cooperation.

Conflicts of Interest

Certain of the director and officer of the Compangy also serve as director and officer of other games
involved in gold and precious metal or other ndtueasource exploration and development and consglyyu¢he
possibility of conflict exists. Any decisions mad¢ such directors involving the Company will be raaih
accordance with the duties and obligations of dinecto deal fairly and in good faith with the Caany and such
other companies. In addition, such directors degland refrain from voting on any matters in whsctch directors
may have a conflict of interest.

Additional Information

Additional information relating to the Company cso be found on SEDAR.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of James Bay Resources Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of James Bay Resources Limited and its subsidiaries,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of cash flows and consolidated statements of changes
in equity for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’'s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of James
Bay Resources Limited and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and their financial performance and cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the
Company had continuing losses during the year ended December 31, 2014 and a cumulative deficit and working capital
deficiency as at December 31, 2014. These conditions along with other matters set forth in Note 1 indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

McGOVERN, HURLEY, CUNNINGHAM, LLP

o U’/f(/,&/ﬂWf\i‘)L/Lip

Chartered Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
TORONTO, Canada
April 28, 2015

A member of UHY International, a network of independent accounting and consulting firms

UhY 1



JAMES BAY RESOURCES LIMITED
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Expressed in Canadian dollars

As at December 31,

2014 2013

$ $

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash 132,915 36,571
Restricted cash (Note 8 and 10) 8,333 1,076,728
Prepaid expenses (Note 17) 106,317 131,120
Amounts receivable 25,390 57,182
Deferred financing fees (Note 10) - 194,816
Total current assets 272,955 1,496,417
Long-term prepaid (Note 8) 104,050 104,050
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 8) 4,086,924 959,817
Equipment (Note 7) 104,494 142,647
Total assets 4,568,423 2,702,931
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 15 and 16) 565,656 859,253
Subscription payable (Note 10) - 1,170,004
Due to shareholders (Notes 9 and 19) 317,469 644,190
Total Liabilities 883,125 2,673,447
EQUITY
Common shares (Note 10) 14,801,211 9,261,904
Share-based payments reserve (Note 11) 302,000 287,833
Warrant reserve (Note 12) 2,214,569 -
Shares to be issued (Note 20) 2,341,500 -
Warrants to be issued (Note 20) 1,125,600 -
Deficit (17,099,582) (9,442,176)
Total common shareholders’ equity 3,685,298 107,561
Non-controlling interest (Note 13) - (78,077)
Total equity 3,685,298 29,484
Total equity and liabilities 4,568,423 2,702,931

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN (Note 1)
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 8 and 17)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Note 20)
APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Signed "STEPHEN SHEFSKY" , Director

Signed "MARK BRENNAN" , Director

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements




JAMES BAY RESOURCES LIMITED
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss

Expressed in Canadian dollars
For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013
$ $
Expenses
Management salaries and benefits 376,045 217,397
Professional fees (Note 16) 355,652 396,361
Office and general (Note 16) 302,842 351,422
Due diligence 41,067 166,464
Exploration costs — James Bay Lowlands (Note 8) 42,468 198,489
Evaluation costs (Note 8) 5,102,863 637,217
Transfer agent and listing fees 33,017 23,281
Business development (recovery) (9,932) 52,512
Share-based payments 1,426 -
Amortization 6,874 6,169
Loss before the undernoted (6,252,322) (2,049,312)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (62,783) 13,359
Interest (expense) (24,078) (12,215)
Break fees (Note 8) (27,991,600) -
Impairment on equity investment (Note 13) (2,260,880) -
Gain on deconsolidation (Note 13) 28,823,548 -
Gain on settlement of debt for equity (Notes 10 and 12) 110,709 -
Loss before income taxes (7,657,406) (2,048,168)
Deferred income tax recovery (Note 18) - 161,300
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year (7,657,406) (1,886,868)
Loss for the year attributable to:
Non-controlling interest (Note 13) (2,208,438) (113,405)
Common shareholders (5,448,968) (1,773,463)
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year (7,657,406) (1,886,868)
Loss per share attributable common shareholders
Basic and diluted (0.24) (0.06)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding —
basic and diluted 31,900,948 28,040,350

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements



JAMES BAY RESOURCES LIMITED
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31,

Expressed in Canadian dollars

2014 2013
$ $
Cash used in operating activities:
Net loss for the year (7,657,406) (1,886,868)
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:
Amortization 39,994 19,724
Share-based payments 11,405 (6,375)
Shares and warrants issued and to be issued for
services 2,389,728 -
Gain on settlement of debt for equity (110,709) -
Accrued interest 1,364 14,190
Non-cash loss on deconsolidation 78,077 -
Deferred income tax recovery - (161,300)
Net change in non-cash working capital 942,102 (272,570)
Net cash (used in) operating activities (4,305,445) (2,293,199)
Cash used in by investing activities:
Interest in exploration and evaluation assets (394,544) (554,455)
Acquisition of equipment (1,841) (52,845)
Net cash (used in) investing activities (396,385) (607,300)
Cash provided by financing activities:
Proceeds from letter of credit (Note 8) 33,165,000 -
Repayment from letter of credit (Note 8) (33,165,000) -
Advances from shareholders 1,553,893 754,000
Repayments to shareholders (1,881,978) (124,000)
Receipts on private placements 5,561,090 1,170,004
Share issue costs (434,831) -
Deferred financing fees - (123,786)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,798,174 1,676,218
Net cash flow during the year 96,344 (1,224,281)
Effect of change in foreign exchange - (455)
Cash, beginning of year 36,571 1,261,307
Cash, end of year 132,915 36,571

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (Note 19)




¥8¥'6¢ - (220'82) (9L1°2v1'6) - £€8'/82 ¥06'792'6 €102 ‘T€ 19quiddsQ ‘soueleq
(898'988'T) - (So¥'eTT) (e9v'eLL'T) - - - Jeak 8y} 10y 507
8ze'se - 8ze'se - - - - 1sassyul Buifjonuoo-uoN
(00€'T9T) - - (00g'T9T) - - - A1aA0231 Xe] 3W02UI PaLaed
- - - 2LELITT'T (z1€'212'T) - - SjueLIeM JO Aldx3
- - - ¥6T'2ST'T - (¥6T'2ST'T) - suondo 3203s Jo Andx3
LIV'IT - - - LIV'IT - sjuswAed paseg-aseys
L¥8'720'C - - (626'9.8'6) CLE'LTT'T 055'22r'T 706'792'6 2102 ‘T€ Jaquiadeq ‘adueleq
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
Ainba [e10]  panssi aq 01 SlueLEM 158.191UI I]IETg] AAJaS3I JURLIBAA aAJasal siuawAed Saleys uowwo)
pue sajeys uowwo) Buijjonuod-uoN paseq-aieys

862'G89‘C 00T'29%'€ - (285'660'LT) 695'712'¢C 000°20€ TTZ'T08'VT ¥T0Z 'T€ JaqwiadaQ ‘aduejeg
(896'8177'S) - - (896'8177'9) - - - Teak ay1 10} s507
(T9€'0€T'2) - 11081 (8e1'802'2) - - - TYNID J0 |0J3U0D JO $507]
JOT'T . - - - J9TVT - siuswAed paseq-areys
9zT'ee - - 9zT'ee - - $1502 uoIeso[dxa yim

- UO1193UU0D Ul SJUBLIEM JO 30UBNSS|
LT6'T6 - - Gv6'9T - 2L6'YL Aynba 104 109p

- Y2IA UOID3UUOI Ul S1IUN JO 80UeNss|
186'299'C - - 186'Chy - 000'022'¢C 06 TNO

- U2IA UOID3UUOI Ul S1IUN JO 8dUenss|
- - - - G/Z'v78 - (522'v8) SJURLIEM J3PULJ JO BOUBNSS|
- - - 092'822'C - (092'822'2) uswaoed

- ayeAlid Jo Led se sjueliem Jo 3ouenss|
(879'629) - - (vev'802) - (vez'tey) $1S00 anss| areys
- 009'G2T'T - - (009'¢L€) - (000'€S2) panssi aq 0] slueLlem Jspul
00S‘TVE'C 00S'TVE'C - - - - - panssi aq 0 Sa.Jeys UOWWOo)
¥60'TEL'9 - - - - ¥60'TEL'Q sjuswaoe|d 81eAlld
¥8Y'62 - (£20'82) (921'2v1'6) - €€8'/8¢2 706'792'6 €102 ‘T€ J18gquiddeQ ‘adueleq

$ $ $ $ $ $ $
Ainba [e10]  panssi aq 01 SlueLEM 158.191UI IB]IETg] AAJBS3I JURLIBAA aAJasal siusawAed Saleys uowwo)

Pue Saleys uowwod

Buijjonuos-uoN

paseq-areys

SJe||op Uelpeue) Ul passaidx3

AInb3 uil sebuey) Jo sjusWwvleIS PaJepIjoSuU0D
A3dLINIT S3aOdNOS3Id AVdE SAINVC



JAMES BAY RESOURCES LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013

Expressed in Canadian dollars

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

James Bay Resources Limited (the "Company" or "James Bay") was incorporated on November 5, 2007. The
Company is currently involved in the exploration and evaluation of oil and gas interests in Nigeria and has interests in
resource properties in the Porcupine mining district of Ontario, Canada (the “Claims”). The Company has not
determined whether its properties contain economically recoverable reserves. The Company has not yet discovered
any deposits, nor has it earned any revenues.

The business of exploring for minerals and oil and gas involves a high degree of risk and there can be no assurance
that current exploration programs will result in profitable operations. The Company's continued existence is
dependent upon the preservation of its interests in its underlying properties, the discovery of economically recoverable
reserves, the achievement of profitable operations, the ability of the Company to secure an interest in new properties
or the ability of the Company to complete additional financings, if necessary, or alternatively upon the Company's
ability to dispose of its interests on an advantageous basis.

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting exploration and in
which it has an interest, in accordance with industry standards for the current stage of exploration of such properties,
these procedures do not guarantee the Company's title. Property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements,
unregistered claims, aboriginal claims and non-compliance with regulatory and environmental requirements. The
Company’s assets may also be subject to increases in taxes and royalties, renegotiation of contracts, currency
exchange fluctuations and restrictions, and political uncertainty.

As at December 31, 2014, the Company had working capital deficiency of $610,170 (2013 - $1,177,030), had
incurred losses since inception, and had an accumulated deficit of $17,099,582 (2013 - $9,442,176) which has been
funded primarily by the issuance of equity. The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent
upon its ability to raise sufficient funds to meet its obligations as they become due. While the Company has been
successful in securing financing in the past, there is no assurance that it will be able to do so in the future. Because of
continuing operating losses, the Company’s continuance as a going concern is dependent on its ability to obtain
adequate financing and to reach profitable levels of operation. It is not possible to predict whether financing efforts
will be successful or if the Company will attain profitable levels of operation.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) applicable to a going concern. Accordingly, they do not give effect to adjustments that would be
necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore, be required to realize its assets
and liquidate its liabilities and commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from
those in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such adjustments could be material. The material
uncertainties noted above together cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

On October 29, 2014, the Company voluntarily delisted its shares from the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”). The
Company’s shares are listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) effective October 30, 2014. Upon de-
listing of the Company’s shares from the TSXV, the Company did not complete its previously announced Change of
Business (“COB”) to oil and gas issuer as it is a specific procedure under TSXV policies and rules. The Company is
listed on the CSE as an oil and gas issuer.

The head office, principal address and records office of the Company is located at 20 Victoria Street, Suite 800,
Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M5C 2N8. These consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2014 were approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on April 28, 2015.



JAMES BAY RESOURCES LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013

Expressed in Canadian dollars

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries were prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) on a going concern basis, under the historical cost basis. In
addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for
cash flow information. The policies set out below were consistently applied to all the periods presented unless
otherwise noted below.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Recent accounting pronouncements

Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for accounting periods on or after
January 1, 2015 or later periods. Many are not applicable or do not have a significant impact to the Company and
have been excluded. The following has not yet been adopted and is being evaluated to determine its impact on the
Company.

IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in November 2009 with additions in October
2010 and May 2013 and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS
9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing
the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in
the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Most of the
requirements in 1AS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward unchanged to
IFRS 9, except that an entity choosing to measure a financial liability at fair value will present the portion of any
change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than
within profit or loss. The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple
impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier
adoption is permitted though management does not anticipate early adoption of the standard.

IFRS 11 — Joint Arrangements ("IFRS 11") was amended in May 2014 adding new guidance on how to account for
the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a business. The amendments specify the appropriate
accounting treatment for such acquisitions. This amendment becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2016 and management does not anticipate early adoption of the standard.

IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) was amended in December 2014 in order to clarify, among
other things, that information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing immaterial information, that
materiality consideration apply to all parts of the financial statements and that even when a standard requires a
specific disclosure, materiality considerations do apply. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2016. Earlier adoption permitted.

IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures (“IAS 24”) was amended by the IASB on December 12, 2013. The amendments
clarify the identification and disclosure requirements for related party transactions when key management personnel
services are provided by a management entity. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
July 1, 2014.

Changes in Accounting Policies
The Company has adopted the following new standards, along with any consequential amendments, effective January
1, 2014. These changes were made in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions.

IAS 32 — Financial Instruments: Presentation (“IAS 32”) was amended by the IASB in December 2011 to clarify
certain aspects of the requirements on offsetting. The amendments focus on the criterion that an entity currently has
a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the criterion that an entity intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The adoption of this standard did not result
in any changes to the Company’s disclosure of its financial instruments.



JAMES BAY RESOURCES LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
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3. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IAS 36 — Impairments of Assets (“lAS 36™) was amended by the IASB in May 2013 to clarify the requirements to
disclose the recoverable amounts of impaired assets and require additional disclosures about the measurement of
impaired assets when the recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal, including the discount rate
when a present value technique is used to measure the recoverable amount. The adoption of this standard did not
result in any changes to the Company’s disclosure of its assets.

4. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

James Bay Energy Nigeria LLC, USA 100%
James Bay Energy Nigeria Limited, Nigeria 100%
D&H Energy Nigeria Limited, Nigeria 100%
Ondobit Limited, Nigeria 100%
Crestar Integrated Natural Resources Limited, Nigeria 45%*

* During the year ended December 31, 2014, control of Crestar Integrated Natural Resources Limited was lost and as
such the Company ceased consolidation of these accounts from the date of the loss of control (Note 13).

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries consist of entities over which the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns as well as the
ability to affect those returns through the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date control is transferred to the Company and are de-consolidated from the date control
ceases. The financial statements include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows of the Company
and its subsidiaries after eliminating inter-entity balances and transactions.

Non-controlling interest represents equity interests in subsidiaries owned by outside parties. The share of net assets
of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interest is presented as a component of equity. The loss and each
component of other comprehensive loss are attributed to non-controlling interests where applicable. See Note 13.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts
of expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. These consolidated
financial statements include estimates, which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are
pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on future
occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and the
revision affects both current and future periods. Such estimates and assumptions affect the carrying value of assets,
the determination of impairment charges of non-current assets, impact decisions as to when exploration and
evaluation costs should be capitalized or expensed, and affect estimates for asset retirement obligations and
reclamation costs. Other significant estimates made by the Company include factors affecting valuations of share-
based payments, warrants and income tax accounts. The Company regularly reviews its estimates and assumptions,
however, actual results could differ from these estimates and these differences could be material.

(a) Capitalization of exploration and evaluation assets

Management has determined that exploration and evaluation costs incurred may have future economic benefits. In
making this judgement, management has assessed various sources of information including but not limited to the
geologic and metallurgic information, proximity of other operating facilities and discoveries, operating management
expertise and existing permits. See Note 8 for details of exploration and evaluation assets.



JAMES BAY RESOURCES LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2014 and 2013
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(b) Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

While assessing whether any indications of impairment exist for exploration and evaluation assets, consideration is
given to both external and internal sources of information. Information the Company considers includes changes in
the market, economic and legal environment in which the Company operates that are not within its control that could
affect the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation assets. Internal sources of information include the
manner in which exploration and evaluation assets are being used or are expected to be used and indications of
expected economic performance of the assets. Estimates may include, but are not limited to estimates of the
discounted future cash flows expected to be derived from the Company’s properties, costs to sell the properties and
the appropriate discount rate.

Reductions in metal price forecasts, increases in estimated future costs of production, increases in estimated future
capital costs, and/or adverse current economics can result in an impairment of the carrying amounts of the
Company’s exploration and evaluation assets.

(c) Income taxes and recoverability of potential deferred tax assets

The Company is subject to income and other taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the Company’s provisions for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The determination of the
Company’s income and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations often involving
multiple jurisdictions. The Company’s interpretation of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may not
coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax filings are subject to audit and potential reassessment
subsequent to the financial statement reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals and deferred income tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(d) Share-based payments and warrants

Management determines costs for share-based payments using market-based valuation techniques. The fair value of
the market-based and performance-based share awards are determined at the date of grant using generally accepted
valuation techniques. Assumptions are made and judgment used in applying valuation techniques. These assumptions
and judgments include estimating the future volatility of the stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee
turnover rates and future employee stock option exercise behaviours and corporate performance. Such judgments and
assumptions are inherently uncertain. Warrants are valued in a similar way. Changes in these assumptions affect the
fair value estimates.

(e) Consolidation of subsidiaries

The Company consolidates subsidiaries over which it has control. Management assesses control in accordance with
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and has determined it controls each of its subsidiaries. Judgement was
applied when considering whether the Company controls Crestar Integrated Natural Resources Limited as the
Company’s ownership percentage is less than 50%. See Note 13 for details about this investment.

(f) Valuation of investment in associate

The valuation of investment in associate is assessed when events occur that indicate impairment. These indicators
include a significant technical difficulty regarding the investee operations, significant adverse changes in the market,
economic, or legal environment in which the investee operates, changes in the investee’s financial condition,
significant financial difficulty of the investee and the investee’s liquidity.

(g) Contingencies
Refer to Note 17.
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(@)  Presentation and functional currencies

The presentation currency of the Company and the functional currency of the Company and each of its subsidiaries is
the Canadian dollar.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on dates
of transactions. At each financial position reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date of the statement of financial position. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Gains and
losses on translation are charged to profit or loss.

(b) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled
share-based transactions are set out in the share-based payments note.

The fair value is determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments and is recognized on a
graded-vesting basis over the period during which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the equity
instruments, based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At the end of each
reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact
of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve. Upon exercise of
the stock options, the consideration paid, together with the amount previously recognized in share based payments
reserve, is recorded as an increase in common shares. Unexercised stock options and warrants are transferred to
deficit.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of
the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the
counterparty renders the service.

(c) Income Tax
Current tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax currently payable is
based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

10
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Company intends to settle its deferred tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(d) Exploration and evaluation assets

Once a license to explore an area has been secured, expenditures on exploration and evaluation activities, net of
government assistance received, are capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets. Deferred exploration
expenditures relate to the initial search for deposits with economic potential and to detailed assessments of deposits
or other projects that have been identified as having economic potential.

The Company’s property interests are in the exploration and evaluation stage and accordingly, the Company follows
the practice of capitalizing all costs relating to the acquisition of, exploration for and evaluation of properties and
crediting all revenues received against the cost of the related claims. Such costs include, but are not exclusive to,
acquisition, geological, geophysical studies, exploratory drilling and sampling.

At such time as commercial production commences, these costs will be charged to operations on a unit-of-production
method based on proven and probable reserves. The aggregate costs related to abandoned properties are charged to
operations at the time of any abandonment or when it has been determined that there is evidence of a permanent
impairment. The recoverability of amounts shown for exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon the
discovery of economically recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain financing to complete
development of the properties, and on future production or proceeds of disposition. The Company recognizes in
profit or loss costs recovered on exploration and evaluation assets when amounts received or receivable are in excess
of the carrying amount. Upon transfer of “Exploration and evaluation assets” into “Development Assets”, all
subsequent expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities is capitalised within
“Development Assets”. After production starts, all assets included in “Development Assets” are transferred to
“Producing Properties”.

All capitalized exploration and evaluation expenditures are monitored for indications of impairment. Where a

potential impairment is indicated, assessments are performed. To the extent that exploration and evaluation assets are
not expected to be recovered, they are charged to profit or loss.

11
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Equipment

Equipment is carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated over the estimated useful life
of the assets at the following annual rates:

Office equipment - 20% declining balance basis
Furniture and fixtures - 20% declining balance basis
Computer equipment - 55% declining balance basis
Vehicles - 30% declining balance basis

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying values of capitalized exploration and evaluation assets and equipment are assessed for impairment when
indicators of such impairment exist. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount is calculated. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the fair value less costs to sell for the
asset and the asset’s value in use. For exploration and evaluation assets, indicators of impairment would include:
exploration of a right to explore, no budgeted or planned material expenditures in an area or a decision to discontinue
exploration in a specific area.

If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and an impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss so as to reduce the carrying amount to its recoverable amount.

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If this is the case, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount cannot exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation/amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss in the period of reversal.

(g) Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL™), loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or derivatives.

The Company determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, (i.e., the date that the Company
commits to purchase or sell the asset).

The Company’s financial assets include cash, restricted cash and amounts receivable.

12
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IAS 39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

The Company evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to determine whether the intent to sell
them in the near term is still appropriate. When the Company is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Company may
elect, in rare circumstances, to reclassify these financial assets. The reclassification to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale or held-to-maturity depends on the nature of the asset. This evaluation does not affect any financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option at designation.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

Loans and receivables

The Company has designated its cash, restricted cash, and amounts receivable as loans and receivables. Loans and
receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method (“EIR”), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is
included in finance income in the statement of loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in profit or
loss.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; and

e The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
either:
(a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

13
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment
may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Company first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The
interest income is recorded as part of finance income in the profit or loss. Loans together with the associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or
has been transferred to the Company. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases
or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered,
the recovery is credited to finance costs in profit or loss.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The
Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

14
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continued)

The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, subscription payable and due to
shareholders.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognized in profit or loss. The Company has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities

The Company has designated its accounts payable and accrued liabilities, subscription payable and due to
shareholders as other financial liabilities. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognized, as well as through the EIR amortization process. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance cost in profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair
value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

(h)  Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss available to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding in the period. Diluted loss per share is calculated by assuming that the
proceeds to be received on the exercise of dilutive share options and warrants are used to repurchase common shares
at the average market price during the period. In the Company’s case, diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss
per share for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, as the effects of including all outstanding options and
warrants would be anti-dilutive.
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6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Q) Decommissioning Liabilities

A legal or constructive obligation to incur decommissioning liabilities may arise when environmental disturbance is
caused by the exploration, development or ongoing production of a mineral property interest. Such costs arising
from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work, discounted to their net present value, are
provided for and capitalized at the start of each project to the carrying amount of the asset as soon as the obligation
to incur such costs arises. Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflect the time value of money are used to
calculate the net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the economic life of the related
asset, through amortization using either a unit-of-production or the straight-line method as appropriate. The related
liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount rate and for changes to the current market-
based discount rate, amount or timing of the underlying cash flows needed to settle the obligation. Costs for
restoration of subsequent site damage which is created on an ongoing basis during production are provided for at
their net present values and charged against profits as extraction progresses.

The Company had no material decommissioning liabilities as at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

()] Investment in associate

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method based on the Company's ability to exercise
significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investee. Investments of this nature are recorded
at original cost and adjusted periodically to recognize the Company's proportionate share of the associate's net
income or losses after the date of investment, additional contributions made and dividends received. Investments are
written down when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in fair value.
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7.

EQUIPMENT

Cost

Balance December 31, 2012
Additions
Balance December 31, 2013
Additions

Balance December 31, 2014

Accumulated amortization

Balance December 31, 2012
Amortization
Balance December 31, 2013
Amortization

Balance December 31, 2014

Carrying value

Balance December 31, 2013
Balance December 31, 2014

Office Furniture Computer
equipment and fixtures equipment  Vehicles Total
$ $ $ $ $
9,928 121,809 3,900 2,000 137,637
3,100 8,165 37,718 3,862 52,845
13,028 129,974 41,618 5,862 190,482
- - 1,841 - 1,841
13,028 129,974 43,459 5862 192,323
Office Furniture Computer
equipment and fixtures equipment  Vehicles Total
$ $ $ $
1,276 3,642 1,555 50 6,523
1,406 25,130 13,322 1,454 41,312
2,682 28,772 14,877 1,504 47,835
1,646 20,240 16,801 1,307 39,994
4,328 49,012 31,678 2,811 87,829
Office Furniture Computer
equipment and fixtures equipment  Vehicles Total
$ $ $ 3 $
10,346 101,202 26,741 4,358 142,647
8,700 80,962 11,781 3,061 104,494

The net book value of the Company’s equipment by geographic location is as follows: Canada - $7,559 (2013 -
$8,694) and Nigeria $96,935 (2013 - $133,953).
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8.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Petroleum Property Interests
OML 90 PROJECT

In June 2012, the Company entered into a Joint Operating Agreement (“JOA”) with an oil and gas field owner in
Nigeria (the “Vendor”). Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will acquire a 47% interest in the Ogedeh
Marginal Field Award on the Farmed-Out Area within the Oil Mining Licence 90 (“OML 90 Project”) in Nigeria.

The Company shall pay US$50,000 (paid) for transfer of due diligence data and administrative fees and US$50,000
(paid) for an exclusivity period.

As consideration for the transfer of the interest, the Company is required to pay an aggregate of US$2,500,000 as
follows:

e US$100,000 due 90 days from the date of execution of JOA or within 24 hours of the execution of the JOA
and Deed of Assignment (“DOA”), whichever is earlier (paid in 2012).

e US$200,000 due upon approval from Department of Petroleum Resources (“DPR”) of the assignment of
direct interest in OML 90 project to the Company (paid in 2013).

e US$300,000 to be released upon the grant of government permit for drilling activity and arrival of a drill rig at
the OML 90 project. A preliminary government permit was received in March 2014. As of December 31,
2014, a drill rig has not yet been installed at OML 90. Of the original US $300,000, US$100,000 ($104,050)
was paid as an advance in 2013. The remaining US$200,000 ($232,000) has not yet been paid or accrued. The
amount advanced in 2013 is shown as a long term prepaid expense in the statement of financial position.

e US$1,000,000 ($1,160,000) upon completion of a final independent report of P1 reserves of at least 7,000,000
proven recoverable barrels of oil, or if such reserve levels are not attained, the Company shall pay US$0.10
per barrel of oil produced, to a maximum of US$1,000,000 ($1,600,000). As this condition has not been met,
this amount has not accrued.

e US$900,000 ($1,044,000) upon the completion of 60 days of commercial production. As this condition has
not been met, this amount has not accrued.

Included in restricted cash as at December 31, 2013 was US$200,000 ($212,720), with US$100,000 ($106,360) of
that amount held in an escrow account and the remaining US$100,000 ($106,360) held in a trust account with the
Company’s legal representatives.

Furthermore, the Company will pay a monthly management retainer of US$30,000 which will commence upon the
date of the drill rig arriving at the OML 90 project and ending on the commencement of commercial production. The
Company will provide funds required to finance the OML 90 project to its initial production of hydrocarbons (oil) on
a commercially viable scale. Any sunk costs incurred exclusively by the Vendor will be reimbursed up to a
maximum of US$500,000 ($580,000). As this condition has not been met, this amount has not accrued.

The Company is entitled to a preferential return of 80% of the available cash flow from oil production at OML 90
until all costs of the joint operation (future capital and operating expenditures) incurred by the Company to get the
first oil have been fully reimbursed. The remaining 20% of available cash flow during this stage of production is
shared between the Company and the Vendor in proportion to their relative percentage interest. After all joint
operation costs have been fully recovered by the Company, the remaining revenue shall be shared between the
Company and Vendor in proportion to their relative ownership interests.
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8.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued)

Petroleum Property Interests (continued)
OML 25 PROJECT

In June 2014, Crestar Integrated Natural Resources Limited (“CINRL”) was selected as the winning bidder for a
45% participating interest in active Oil Mining Lease No. 25 (“OML 25”) in the Niger Delta region, offered by joint
venture partners The Shell Petroleum Development Company of Nigeria Limited, Total E&P Nigeria Limited, and
Nigerian AGIP Oil Company Limited (collectively the “Shell JV”). Related to the bidding process a temporary
letter of credit of US30,000,000 ($33,165,000) was received and subsequently repaid. Through a prospective future
investor, CINRL obtained a loan for the full purchase price of OML 25. Such amount remains in an escrow account
awaiting closing of the acquisition. However, the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (“NNPC”) has blocked
the closing by attempting to exercise pre-emption rights. The Company intends to vigorously pursue closing of the
acquisition of OML 25 through legal processes available to it in Nigeria.

CINRL incurred US$26,000,000 ($27,991,600) break fees related to the structuring of this acquisition. The amount
is recorded in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

Evaluation Costs

During the year-ended December 31, 2014, the Company incurred $5,102,863 (December 31, 2013 - $nil) in pre-
licensing costs related to pursuing OML 25. On July 3, 2014 the Company lost control of CINRL (note 13), from this
date onward, none of the evaluation costs incurred in CINRL are reflected in the consolidated financial statements of
the Company.

During the year-ended December 31, 2013, the Company incurred $637,217 in pre-licensing costs related to pursuing
OML 90. On May 17, 2013, the Honourable Minister of Petroleum Resources (“HMPR”) granted approval for the
assignment of the 47% participating interest in the OML 90 Project to the Company’s subsidiary, D&H Energy
Nigeria Limited. The expenditures incurred after May 17, 2013, on the OML 90 Project were capitalized to the
exploration and evaluation asset.

Description 2014 2013

$ $
Management fees 268,270 263,205
Consulting fees 2,832,211 20,200
Travel, meals and accommodation 218,585 135,589
Professional fees 343,755 49,433
Technical reports 170,336 -
Environmental 62,186 -
Due diligence 11,049 -
License and permit 3,359 -
Commitment fee 908,638 -
Amortization 13,644 13,279
General and administrative expense 270,830 155,511
Balance 5,102,863 637,217

Included in management fees is a balance of $11,405 (December 31, 2013 — a credit balance of $6,375) in non-cash
share-based payments made to an officer of the Company. Included in consulting fees is a balance of $2,341,500
(December 31, 2013 - $nil) in non-cash share based payments. See note 20.
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8.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued)
Petroleum Property Interests (continued)
Exploration and Evaluation Asset

As at December 31, 2014, the Company capitalized a total of $4,086,924 (2013 - $959,817) in exploration and
evaluation assets post licensing related to its interest in OML 90.

Year ended Year ended

Description December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 Total

$ $ $
Acquisition costs - 207,080 207,080
Management and consulting fees 163,082 410,544 573,626
Environmental 92,161 - 92,161
Travel, meals and accommodation 4,210 17,205 21,415
Professional fees 16,467 8,790 25,257
Legal fees 28,216 5,067 33,283
Share-based payments 2,704,089 23,852 2,727,941
Amortization 7,507 21,760 29,267
General and administrative expense 111,375 265,519 376,894
Balance 3,127,107 959,817 4,086,924

D&H Solutions AS

On March 21, 2011, the Company signed a memorandum of understanding (the "MoU") to conduct due diligence,
and if a suitable target is identified, to form a special purpose vehicle (the "SPV") with D&H Solution AS (“D&H")
to further evaluate the identified oil and gas opportunities in Nigeria, and if suitable, negotiate an agreement to
acquire and develop such assets.

On January 5, 2012, a new agreement was signed with D&H. The new agreement calls for the transfer of all
Nigerian agreements and the corporations that currently hold these agreements into a wholly owned Nigerian
subsidiary of the Company. This subsidiary (James Bay Energy Nigeria Limited, “JBENL”) was incorporated on
February 27, 2012. In addition, the Company will retain certain senior management of D&H as senior management
of JBENL. In consideration, the Company has agreed to issue to D&H share based compensation in the form of units
consisting of one common share and one half of one common share purchase warrant, each whole common share
purchase warrant entitling the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $1.25 for a period of two years from
issuance. The units are to be issued as follows:

e 3,000,000 units upon the closing of a definitive agreement being entered into with regards to an acquisition of
an interest in an oil and gas project in Nigeria and upon attaining mining licenses from the Ministry of Mines
in Nigeria; and

e 3,000,000 units upon the Company reaching 1,500 barrels oil equivalent (“BOE”) per day or a minimum
recoverable estimate of 50 million BOE.

Simultaneously with each issuance of the units above, D&H will receive a further 300,000 stock options exercisable

for a period of five years following the date of issue, with the exercise price set in the context of the market on the
date of issue.
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8.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued)
Petroleum Property Interests (continued)
Exploration and Evaluation Asset (continued)

The obligations created and transactions contemplated by the agreement with D&H are subject to receipt of all
requisite corporate, regulatory, shareholder and court approvals (if required) and consents, and, where required, the
shareholders of the Company.

On July 31, 2014, the agreement dated January 5, 2012, was terminated in exchange for the following consideration:

e The Company has agreed to issue 3,000,000 units of the Company to D&H. The Company issued these units
on October 30, 2014, the first day the Company’s shares were listed on CSE as an oil and gas issuer. Each
unit is comprised of one common share and one-half of one common purchase warrant. Each warrant
comprising part of the units is exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25 for 2 years from the date of
issuance (Notes 10(b)(v) and 12(vi)).

e The Company has agreed to convert $147,288 of debt owing to D&H into the Company’s equity. The
Company issued 147,288 units to settle this debt on December 19, 2014. Each unit is comprised of one
common share and one half of one common purchase warrant. Each warrant comprising part of the units is
exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25 for 5 years from the date of issuance (Notes 10(b)(vi) and
12(vii)).

MAK MERA

On March 9, 2011, James Bay entered into a letter of intent with a Nigerian oil and gas service provider, MAK
MERA. On February 1, 2012, a new agreement with MAK MERA was signed. The new consulting services
agreement calls for the issuance of cash and common shares of the Company to MAK MERA as follows:

e Cash payment of US$165,000 upon signing a definitive agreement (paid).

e 3,500,000 common shares upon the closing of a definitive agreement being entered into with regards to an
acquisition of an interest in an oil and gas project in Nigeria and upon attaining mining licenses from the
Ministry of Mines in Nigeria;

e 3,000,000 common shares if the project achieves:
(i) Average production of at least 1,500 BOE per day over a period of 60 days, or
(i) A minimum recoverable estimate of 50 million BOE.

The obligations created and transactions contemplated by the agreement with MAK MERA are subject to receipt of
all requisite corporate, regulatory, shareholder and court approvals (if required) and consents and where required, the
shareholders of the Company. The obligations also are subject to the Company obtaining approval for a change of
business by the TSXV.

The Company received the mining license in 2013 in respect of an interest in an oil and gas project in Nigeria under a
definitive agreement. However, no amounts have been accrued relating to the above units and options as TSXV
approval has not been obtained for the change of business. The conditions contained in the agreement with MAK
MERA must be met on or prior to December 31, 2013, otherwise, any obligations of the Company under the
agreement shall cease to exist. The conditions were not met by December 31, 2013 and as such the above share
issuances have not been made and no amounts have been accrued for them in these consolidated financial statements.
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (continued)
Mineral Property Interests
James Bay Property, Ontario, Canada

The Company acquired, by staking, certain claims in Ontario, Canada. In February 2013, the Company engaged
MacDonald Mines Exploration Ltd. (“MacDonald”) to complete a GPS survey of all corner claim posts following
the proper protocol as defined by the Ministry of Northern Development and Mines. This survey formed the basis
for a report of work, which was submitted for assessment credits in March 2014. During the year ended December
31, 2014, the Company incurred $3,010 of interest on consulting fees payable (December 31, 2013 - $198,489 of
consulting fees) to MacDonald to complete the GPS survey and $16,332 (December 31, 2013 - $nil) in exploration
and evaluation costs. These costs were expensed in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

As part of the MacDonald agreement, the Company was obligated to issue 50,000 warrants to MacDonald
exercisable for five years with an exercise price equal to the issue price of the financing required to be completed in
relation to the change of business.

The Company issued 50,000 warrants to MacDonald on October 30, 2014 which coincides with the effective listing
of the Company’s shares on the CSE as an oil and gas issuer. The warrants entitle the holder to purchase one
common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on October 30, 2019. The value of $23,126 was expensed
in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss (Note 12(viii)).

On December 19, 2014, the Company settled an aggregate total debt of $55,338 owing to MacDonald through the
issuance of an aggregate of 55,338 units. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one-half warrant. Each
warrant is exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25 for 5 years from the date of issuance.

9. DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts due to shareholders are unsecured, bear interest at 6% per annum, and are due on demand. The
principal is comprised of an advance of $nil (December 31, 2013 - $100,000) from a shareholder and director and an
advance of $316,105 (December 31, 2013 - $530,000) from the President and CEO of the Company, who is also a
shareholder and director of the Company. As of December 31, 2014, accrued interest is $1,364 (December 31, 2013 -
$14,190).

At December 31, 2013, the Company had an outstanding shareholder loan balance of $644,190. During the year-
ended December 31, 2014, the Company received additional advances of $1,553,893 from the shareholders. The
Company repaid $1,881,978 during the year, This balance includes $18,919 of interest and $1,863,059 of principal
balance.
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10. SHARE CAPITAL

(@ Authorized - Unlimited common shares, with no par value
(b) Issued — 37,974,070 common shares

# $
Balance, December 31, 2012 and 2013 28,040,350 9,261,904
Private placement © 1,930,424 1,930,424
Share issue costs @ - (203,463)
Warrants valuation® - (639,135)
Private placement ® 470,000 470,000
Share issue costs™ - (31,403)
Warrants valuation® - (155,628)
Private placement 3,810,670 3,810,670
Share issue costs™ - (990,435)
Warrants valuation® - (1,261,338)
Private placement ™ 520,000 520,000
Share issue costs™ - (33,198)
Warrants valuation™ - (172,159)
Shares issued to D&H 3,000,000 2,220,000
Shares issued to D&H" 147,288 54,497
Shares issued to MacDonald"" 55,338 20,475
Balance, December 31, 2014 37,974,070 14,801,211

® On January 31, 2014, the Company raised proceeds of $1,930,424 by way of a non-brokered private placement of
1,930,424 units at a price of $1.00 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one warrant. Each
warrant comprising part of the units is exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25 for 3 years from the date
of issuance.

The finder received cash commission of 6% of the gross proceeds raised through the finder and 60,397 finder’s
warrants. Each finder’s warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $1.00 for thirty-six
months from the date of issuance. The Company paid a total amount of $282,291 for commission, filing fees,
travel, legal and other share issue costs.

Included in deferred financing fees and subscription payable as at December 31, 2013 are $194,816 share issue
cost and $1,170,004 subscription received in advance in connection with the private placement. Of this amount
$970,368 was included in restricted cash on the statement of financial position.

The President and Director, who is also the CEO and a director, participated in the private placement for gross
proceeds of $500,000 and $100,000, respectively.

@ On June 10, 2014, the Company raised proceeds of $470,000 by way of a non-brokered private placement of
470,000 units at a price of $1.00 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one warrant. Each
warrant comprising part of the units is exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25 for 3 years from the date
of issuance.
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10.

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The finders received cash commission of 6% of the gross proceeds raised through the finders and 28,200 finder
warrants. Each finder warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $1.00 for thirty-six
months from the date of issuance. The Company paid a total amount of $36,749 for commission, filing fees, legal
and other share issue costs.

On July 28, 2014, the Company raised proceeds of $3,810,670 by way of a non-brokered private placement of
3,810,670 units at a price of $1.00 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one common share
purchase warrant. Each warrant comprising part of the units is exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25
for 3 years from the date of issuance.

The finders received cash commission of 6% of the gross proceeds raised through the finders and 3,628,640 finder
warrants. Of the total amount, 228,64 finder warrants were issued and entitled the holders to acquire one common
share at a price of $1.00 for thirty-six months from the date of issuance. The remaining 3,400,000 finder warrants
entitle the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $1.25 for thirty-six months from the date of issuance.
As of December 31, 2014, these warrants have not been issued. The Company paid a total amount of $272,259 for
commission, filing fees, legal and other share issue costs.

On October 30, 2014, the Company raised proceeds of $520,000 by way of a non-brokered private placement of
520,000 units at a price of $1.00 per unit. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one common share
purchase warrant. Each warrant comprising part of the units is exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25
for 3 years from the date of issuance.

The finders received cash commission of 6% of the gross proceeds raised through the finders and 31,200 finder
warrants. Each finder warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at a price of $1.00 for thirty-six
months from the date of issuance. The Company paid a total amount of $38,349 for commission, filing fees, legal
and other share issue costs.

On October 30, 2014, the Company issued 3,000,000 units to D&H valued at $0.74 per unit pursuant to a
termination agreement (see Note 8). Each unit is comprised of one common share and one-half of one common
purchase warrant. Each warrant comprising part of the units is exercisable for one common share at a price of
$1.25 for 2 years from the date of issuance.

On December 19, 2014, the Company settled an aggregate total debt of $147,288 through issuance of 147,288
units and an aggregate total debt of $55,338 through issuance of 55,338 units to D&H and MacDonald,
respectively. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one-half of one common purchase warrant. Each
warrant comprising part of the units is exercisable for a common share at a price of $1.25 for 5 years from the date
of issuance.
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11.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has an incentive stock option plan (the “Plan") whereby the Company can grant to directors, officers,
employees and consultants options to purchase shares of the Company. The Plan provides for the issuance of stock
options to acquire up to 20% of the Company's issued and outstanding capital at the time of granting of options for a
maximum term of five years. The Plan is a rolling plan as the number of shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the
grant of stock options will increase as the Company's issued and outstanding share capital increases. In no case
(calculated at the time of grant) shall the Plan result in:

e the number of options granted in a 12-month period to any one consultant exceeding 2% of the issued shares of
the Company;

e the aggregate number of options granted in a 12-month period to any one individual exceeding 5% of the
outstanding shares of the Company;

e the number of options granted in any 12-month period to employees or consultants undertaking investor
relations activities exceeding in aggregate 2% of the issued shares of the Company;

e the aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance to any one individual upon the exercise of
options granted under the Plan or any previously established and outstanding stock option plans or grants
exceeding 5% of the issued shares of the Company in any 12-month period.

The following reconciles the share options outstanding:

Year-ended Year-ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of options exercise price of options exercise price
# $ # $
Balance, beginning of year 800,000 0.66 2,645,000 0.75
Granted - - 600,000 0.63
Expired - - (2,445,000) 0.75
Balance, end of year 800,000 0.66 800,000 0.66

The Company has the following share options outstanding at December 31, 2014:

Estimated Grant Outstanding Options Exercise
Date Fair Value Options Exercisable Price
$ # # $ Expiry Date
98,000 200,000 200,000 0.75 June 11, 2015
204,000 600,000 600,000 0.63 June 1, 2017
302,000 800,000 800,000

On June 1, 2012, the Company granted 600,000 stock options to an officer of the Company. The issuance of the
options was contingent on the Company passing an amendment to the Plan, allowing for additional options to be
granted. The amendment to the Plan was passed on February 4, 2013. The fair value of the options was estimated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%;
expected volatility of 95%; risk free interest rate of 1.32%; expected forfeiture rate of 0% and expected life of 4.3
years. An amount of $14,167 (December 31, 2013 - $17,477) was recorded relating to these stock options for the
year-ended December 31, 2014.
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12. WARRANT RESERVE

# $
Balance, December 31, 2012 3,723,925 1,217,372
Warrants expired @ (3,723,925) (1,217,372)
Balance, December 31, 2013 - -
Warrants issued ™ 1,930,424 639,135
Finder’s warrants issued ™ 60,397 21,839
Warrant issue costs - (100,668)
Warrants issued " 470,000 155,628
Finder’s warrants issued 28,200 10,197
Warrant issue costs - (15,545)
Warrants issued ™) 3,810,670 1,261,338
Finder’s warrants issued ™ 228,640 82,653
Warrant issue costs - (490,076)
Warrants issued 520,000 172,159
Finder’s warrants issued ) 31,200 11,281
Warrant issue costs - (16,430)
Warrants issued to D&H ¢V 1,500,000 442,987
Warrants issued to D&HYD 73,644 12,317
Warrants issued to MacDonald" 27,669 4,628
Warrants issued to MacDonald“" 50,000 23,126
Balance, December 31, 2014 8,730,844 2,214,569

® On March 20, 2012, the Company extended the expiry date of common share purchase warrants issued by the
Company in connection with the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) financing that closed on July 24, 2008. The expiry
date for all these warrants was extended until July 24, 2013 at a reduced price of $1.25. These warrants expired on
July 24, 2013.

@ In connection with the January 31, 2014, private placement (Note 10(b)(i)), the Company issued 1,930,424
warrants which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on
January 31, 2017. The estimated fair value of the warrants of $639,135 was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of
100%, a risk-free interest rate of 1.14% and an expected life of 3 years.

The finders received 60,397 finders warrants which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the
Company at a price of $1.00 expiring on January 31, 2017. The estimated fair value of the finder’s warrants of
$21,839 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected
dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a risk-free interest rate of 1.14% and an expected life of 3
years.

@ In connection with the June 10, 2014, private placement (Note 10(b)(ii)), the Company issued 470,000 warrants
which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on June 10,
2017. The estimated fair value of the warrants of $155,628 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a risk-free
interest rate of 1.17% and an expected life of 3 years.
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12.

WARRANT RESERVE (continued)

The finders received 28,200 finders warrants which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the
Company at a price of $1.00 expiring on June 10, 2017. The estimated fair value of the finder warrants of $10,197
was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected dividend
yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a risk-free interest rate of 1.17% and an expected life of 3 years.

™ In connection with the July 28, 2014, private placement (Note 10(b)(iii)), the Company issued 3,810,670 warrants

V)

which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on July 28,
2017. The estimated fair value of the warrants of $1,261,338 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a
risk-free interest rate of 1.12% and an expected life of 3 years.

The finders received 3,628,640 finders warrants. 228,640 finders warrants were issued and entitle the holders to
purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.00 expiring on July 28, 2017. The estimated fair
value of the these finder’s warrants of $82,653 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a risk-free interest rate
of 1.12% and an expected life of 3 years. The remaining 3,400,000 finders warrants entitle the holder to purchase
one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on July 28, 2017. The estimated fair value of the
finder warrants of $1,125,600 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a risk-free interest rate of 1.14% and
an expected life of 3 years. As of December 31, 2014, 3,400,000 finders warrants have yet to be issued (see Note
20).

In connection with the October 30, 2014, private placement (Note 10(b)(iv)), the Company issued 520,000
warrants which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on
October 30, 2017. The estimated fair value of the warrants of $172,159 was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of
100%, a risk-free interest rate of 1.15% and an expected life of 3 years.

The finders received 31,200 finders warrants which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the
Company at a price of $1.00 expiring on October 30, 2017. The estimated fair value of the finder warrants of
$11,281 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected
dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a risk-free interest rate of 1.15% and an expected life of 3
years.

“In connection with units issued to D&H (Note 10(b)(v)), the Company issued 1,500,000 warrants which entitle the

holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on October 30, 2017. The
estimated fair value of the warrants of $442,987 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 100%, a risk-free interest rate
of 1.01% and an expected life of 2 years.

™) In connection with units issued to D&H and MacDonald (Note 10(b)(vi)), the Company issued 101,313 warrants

which entitle the holder to purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on December
19, 2019. The estimated fair value of the warrants of $16,945 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 86%, a
risk-free interest rate of 1.12% and an expected life of 5 years.

Vi) On October 30, 2014, the Company issued 50,000 warrants to MacDonald (Note 8) which entitle the holder to

purchase one common share of the Company at a price of $1.25 expiring on December 19, 2019. The estimated
fair value of the warrants of $23,126 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions: an expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 92%, a risk-free interest rate of
1.54% and an expected life of 5 years.
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12. WARRANT RESERVE (continued)

The Company estimated the expected volatility using a combination of historical volatilities of similar companies
and the historical price of the shares of the Company when estimating the fair value of warrants issued.

The following reconciles the warrants outstanding:

Year-ended Year-ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Number Number
of warrants Exercise price of warrants Exercise price
# $ # $
Balance, beginning of year - - 3,723,925 1.25
Warrants expired - - (3,723,925) (1.25)
Warrants issued 8,382,407 1.25 - -
Finder’s warrants issued 348,437 1.00 - -
Balance, end of year 8,730,844 1.24 - -
The Company has the following warrants outstanding as at December 31, 2014:
Estimated Fair
Value (net of issue Outstanding Warrants Exercise
costs) Warrants Exercisable Price
$ # # $ Expiry Date
538,468 1,930,424 1,930,424 1.25 January 31, 2017
21,839 60,397 @ 60,397 1.00 January 31, 2017
140,083 470,000 470,000 1.25 June 10, 2017
10,197 28,200 ® 28,200 1.00 June 10, 2017
771,262 3,810,670 3,810,670 1.25 July 28, 2017
82,653 228,640 © 228,640 1.00 July 28, 2017
155,728 520,000 520,000 1.25 October 30, 2017
11,281 31,200 @ 31,200 1.00 October 30, 2017
442,987 1,500,000 1,500,000 1.25 October 30, 2019
23,126 50,000 50,000 1.25 October 30, 2019
16,945 101,313 101,313 1.25 December 19, 2019
2,214,569 8,730,844 8,730,844

@
(b)
©
(d)

These are finder’s warrants issued in connection with the January 31, 2014, private placement.

These are finder’s warrants issued in connection with the June 10, 2014, private placement.
These are finder’s warrants issued in connection with the July 28, 2014 private placement.

These are finder’s warrants issued in connection with the October 30, 2014 private placement.
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13.

INVESTMENT IN CRESTAR INTERGRATED NATURAL RESOURCE (“CINRL”)

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary JBENL has a 45% ownership interest in CINRL with the
remaining 55% portion held by an indigenous Nigerian corporation Crestar Hydrocarbon Exploration and Production
Company Limited (“CHEPCL")

From the acquisition of the Company’s interest in CINRL in September 2013 to June 2014 the Company had fully
consolidated the accounts of CINRL even though it owned less than 50% of the shares. This was because it was felt
at that time the Company had control over CINRL due the following reasons: The Company had entered into a
Financial and Technical Services Agreement with CINRL (such agreement amended on June 17, 2014 to reflect a
change of party from CINRL to CHEPCL) whereby the Company was appointed the Financial and Technical Partner
with respect to acquiring oil and gas projects in Nigeria. This agreement provided that: the Company shall arrange to
provide the funding to CINRL and shall meet all required financial obligations. The Company was responsible for
providing technical assistance, appointing personnel and carrying out the evaluation, development and production
from the projects. JBENL’s President and Chief Executive Officer is also the President and Chief Executive Officer
of CINRL, and a shareholder and member of the Board of Directors of CHEPCL.

In consideration of the Company’s obligations to provide the funding to CINRL, the revenue proceeds from the
contract area or any asset of CINRL shall be allocated in the following manner:

a. The parties shall first deduct any amounts owing to third parties in accordance with their participatory interest
under the project document;
. 80% of the remaining revenue proceeds (after deductions under (a) above) shall be allocated to the Company;
c. The remaining 20% of revenue proceeds (after deductions under (a) and (b) above) shall be shared between
CINRL and the Company in accordance with their respective ownership interest.

Concurrent with the signing of the Agreement for Assignment of OML 25 on July 3, 2014, an agreement came into
force with a prospective future investor of CINRL to provide CINRL with a loan for the full acquisition cost of the
asset. The agreement further provided that the future investor would provide all technical services required under
the operation of OML 25, such agreement was subject only to the formal closing of the acquisition (see Note 8). As
consideration, the prospective investor was expected to assume a 56% effective interest in OML 25 and net revenue
proceeds from the asset were expected to be adjusted accordingly. Given the agreement in place, it was determined
that the Company lost control of CINRL on July 3, 2014. Related to this loss of control, the Company recorded a
loss attributable to non-controlling interest of $2,208,438 through the date of the loss of control, and a gain on
deconsolidation of $28,823,548. A further impairment on equity investment in CINRL of $2,260,880, was also
recorded in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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14,

15.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the
Company, in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of its properties. The capital structure of
the Company consists of equity attributable to common shareholders comprised of common shares, warrant reserve,
share-based payments reserve, deficit. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital
criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future
development of the business.

The properties in which the Company currently has an interest, or is pursuing an interest in, are in the exploration
stage; as such the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out the planned
exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working capital and raise
additional amounts as needed.

The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels
there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so.

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given the
relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital
management during the year-ended December 31, 2014. The Company is not subject to any capital requirements
imposed by a lending institution or regulatory body, other than of the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) which
requires adequate working capital of $50,000. As of December 31, 2014, the Company may not be compliant with
the policies of the CSE. The impact of this violation is not known and is ultimately dependent on the discretion of
the CSE.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized below. There
have been no significant changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period.

Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts receivable. The Company has no significant
concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk concentration with
respect to amounts receivable is remote.

Liquidity risk

The Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet
liabilities when due. At December 31, 2014, the Company had cash and restricted cash of $141,248 (December 31,
2013 - $1,113,299) to settle current liabilities of $883,125 (December 31, 2013 - $2,673,447). The Company has a
working capital deficiency of $610,170 (December 31, 2013 working capital deficiency of $1,177,030). The
Company's financial liabilities generally have contractual maturities of less than 30 days and are subject to normal
trade terms.

Market risk

() Interest rate risk

The Company has cash balances and interest-bearing debt due to shareholders as described in Note 9. The
Company's current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term guaranteed investment certificates
issued by its banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it makes and is satisfied with
the credit ratings of its banks.

(b) Price risk

The ability of the Company to pursue its resource interests and the future profitability of the Company is directly
related to the market price of oil and gas.
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16.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk

The Company is subject to foreign exchange risk as the Company has certain assets and liabilities, and makes certain
expenditures, in US dollars and Nigerian Naira. The Company is therefore subject to gains and losses due to
fluctuations in the US dollar and the Nigerian Naira relative to the Canadian dollar. The Company does not hedge its
foreign exchange risk.

Sensitivity analysis
Based on management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company believes the following
movements are reasonably possible over a twelve month period.

As at December 31, 2014, the Company has net monetary liabilities denominated in US dollars of approximately
US$326,887 (2013 -US$351,500). A 10% change in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar
would result in a corresponding change in net loss of approximately $37,922 (2013 — $37,591) based on the balance
of these amounts held in US dollars at December 31, 2014.

Fair value

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, subscription
payable and due to shareholders approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the
financial instruments.

Fair value hierarchy and liquidity risk disclosure

Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy shall have the following levels: (a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); (b) inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) (Level
2); and (c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level
3). As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had no financial instruments to classify in the fair value
hierarchy.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

These consolidated financial statements include balances and transactions with directors and officers of the
Company and/or corporations related to them. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 the Company
entered into the following transactions involving related parties:

The Company rents office space from a corporation with a common officer. During the year ended December 31,
2014, approximately $40,535 (December 31, 2013 - $49,030) was charged by this corporation. The amount is
included in office and general expense on the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2014,
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $707 (December 31, 2013 - $44,147) owing to this
corporation.

The Company incurred legal fees of approximately $269,059 (December 31, 2013 - $236,689) with a law firm of
which a partner, is a director of the Company. This amount is included in professional fees on the statement of loss
and comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2014, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $93,190
(December 31, 2013 - $191,620) owing to this law firm.
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17.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, including any directors (executive and
non-executive) of the Company. The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

$ $
Management salaries and benefits and director fees* 893,051 777,257
Share-based payments 14,167 17,477

*reflected in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss and exploration and evaluation asset

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2014 is approximately $2,496 (2013 -
$191,620) management travel expenses reimbursement and $40,000 (2013 - $nil) director fees.

All of the above amounts payable to related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing, with no fixed terms of
repayment.

See also Notes 9, 10, 17 and 20.
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is party to certain management contracts. These contracts contain clauses requiring additional
payments of up to $1,584,000 be made upon the occurrence of certain events such as a change of control and
termination. As a triggering event has not taken place, the contingent payments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements. Under these management contracts, $840,000 is due within one year.

During 2013, the Company entered into an agreement with a corporation which will work with the Company to
facilitate the acquisition of oil and gas projects. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will pay a fee of 2% of the
transaction cost on the closing of an acquisition. The Company may also be required to pay an additional fee of 2%
of the transaction cost in equal quarterly payments over 10 years. As a triggering event has not taken place, the
contingent payments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Under the terms of a financing agreement entered into during 2014, the Company may be liable for a $2,000,000
payment should a certain oil and gas property in Nigeria be acquired.

The Company’s exploration and evaluation activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the
protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and generally becoming more
restrictive. The Company believes its operations are materially in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and
regulations.

The Company is party to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its operations related to legally binding
agreements with various third parties under consulting agreements. As at December 31, 2014 one such proceeding
was ongoing, relating to a services agreement in Nigeria. A former consultant of the Company is claiming that a
payment in the amount of 3.5 million common shares of the Company is owing to them. The Company believes this
claim to be without merit. Management does not expect the outcome of this proceeding to have a materially adverse
effect on the results of the Company’s financial position or results of operations and therefore this amount has not
been reflected in these financial statements. Should any losses result from the resolution of this dispute, that amount
will be charged to operations in the year that it is determined.
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18. INCOME TAXES

a) Provision for Income Taxes

Major items causing the Company's effective income tax rate to differ from the combined Canadian federal and

provincial statutory rate of 26.5% (2013 - 26.75%) were as follows:

2014 2013
$ $
Loss before income taxes (7,657,406) (2,048,168)
Expected income tax recovery based on statutory rate (2,029,000) (543,000)
Adjustment to expected income tax benefit:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,000 1,000
Other (2,000) 12,700
Change in foreign exchange rates 486,000 (6,000)
Difference in tax rates (40,000) -
Benefit of tax assets not recognized 1,583,000 374,000
Deferred income tax (recovery) - (161,300)
Deferred income tax recognized in equity - 161,300
Total taxation - -
b) Deferred Income Tax
Recognized deferred tax assets (liabilities) in Nigeria were as follows:
2014 2013
$ $
Resources property costs - Nigeria (404,000) -
Non-capital loss carry-forwards — Nigeria 404,000 -

Total -

Deferred Income Tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences:

2014 2013
$ $
Non-capital loss carry-forwards — Canada 6,358,000 2,819,000
Non-capital loss carry-forwards — Nigeria 5,700,000 5,453,000
Resource property costs — Canada 3,446,000 3,403,000
Resource property costs — Nigeria - 6,000
Investment in CINRL — Canada 3,387,000 -
Investment in CINRL — Nigeria 785,000 -
Equipment — Nigeria 13,000 12,000
Total 19,689,000 11,693,000
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20.

INCOME TAXES (continued)
¢) Tax Loss Carry-Forwards
As at December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $3,446,000 (2013 — $3,403,000) of Canadian exploration
and development expenditures and $5,700,000 (2013 — $5,459,000) of Nigerian exploration and operating

expenditures. These losses may be utilized to reduce taxable income of futures years under certain circumstances

As at December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $6,358,000 (2013 - $2,819,000) of non-capital losses in
Canada, which can be used to reduce taxable income in future years. The losses expire as follows:

Year of expiry Amount ($)

2027 7,000
2028 107,000
2029 102,000
2030 812,000
2031 751,000
2032 900,000
2033 140,000
2034 3,539,000

6,358,000

The Company’s Nigerian exploration and operating tax losses noted above can be utilized indefinitely against future
Nigerian taxable profits as these losses do not expire.

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION - STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2014 2013
$ $
Unit issuance for interest in exploration and evaluation asset 2 662.987 )
(Notes 10(b)(v) and 12(vi)) B
Units issued for settlement of debt (Notes 10(b)(vi) and 12(vii)) 91,917 -
Interest paid 18,919 -
Warrants issued for services (Note 12(viii)) 23,126 -
Amortization recorded to exploration and evaluation asset 7,507 21,760
Share-based payments recorded to exploration and evaluation 1417 23 852
assets ' '

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Share issuance

On February 4, 2015, the Company issued to a consultant 3,500,000 common shares in the capital of the Company.
The shares were issued in accordance with the terms of a service agreement between the Company and CINRL
completed during the year ended December 31, 2014. The shares are subject to a statutory hold period of four
months from the date of issuance. At December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a value of $2,341,500 as shares to
be issued on the statement of financial position.

Further, the Company is obligated to issue an additional 3,400,000 finder warrants under the terms of the service
agreement. At December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a valuation $1,125,600 as warrants to be issued on the
statement of financial position.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)
Convertible debenture

On April 16, 2015, the Company announced a non-brokered private placement of unsecured convertible debentures
in the amount of $3 million. Each debenture shall bear an interest rate of 15%, payable semi-annually, and have a
maturity date that is three years following the date of issuance. The debenture shall be convertible, in whole or in
part at the option of the holders into common shares of the Company at a conversion price of $0.17 per common
share.

The offering is expected to close over a series of tranches, with the final tranche to close on or before May 31, 2015.
The net proceeds from the offering will be used to fund the Company’s working capital including litigation issues
stemming from the Company’s enforcement of its right to acquire a 45% participating interest in OML-25 in
Nigeria.

The Company will also concurrently sell and assign, pursuant to separate agreements with each subscriber, a pro rata
(based on all the subscribers) entitlement for up to an aggregate of 30% of the net proceeds of litigation related to the
failed closing of the OML 25 project (Note 8), if any (whether as a result of final judgment by a court of competent
jurisdiction or settlement for which no appeal or further proceeding may be taken (the "Final Award")), after
deduction of all related costs and taxes incurred by the Company in the Litigation (the "Net Final Amount"), payable
to the Holders within 60 days from the receipt of the Final Award, if any. In the event the Company prepays the
Debentures in full prior to that date which is one year from the date of issue and prior to date of the Final Award,
then the amount payable to the Holders under the agreement will be adjusted to reflect an aggregate entitlement of
15%.

On March 20, 2015, the Company received $250,000 advance from a shareholder in connection with the convertible
debenture (see also “Due to shareholder” below).

Due to shareholder

Subsequent to year-end, the Company received approximately $1,043,900 of additional advances from the President
and CEO of the Company, who is also a shareholder and director of the Company. In April 2015, $1,349,925 of
advances (including accrued interest and unpaid salary) provided by the President and CEO were converted into the
convertible debentures noted above.

Stock Options

Subsequent to year-end, due to the resignation of a director, 200,000 stock options expired unexercised.
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